

Sustainable Food A Manual for Cities





Pla Estratègic Metropolità de Barcelona



AMB Metròpolis Barcelona





This sustainable food manual has been drawn up by Dr Ana Moragues Faus, an expert in sustainable food systems and urban food policies at the University of Barcelona.

To cite this document, we suggest using the following format: Moragues-Faus, A. (2020) Sustainable Food: A Manual for Cities. Barcelona City Council; PEMB; AMB: Barcelona.



Contents

Foreword	4
Why we need to transform our food system: the role of cities	6
What is sustainable food?	9
Sustainable food in practice: a guide to actions	
1. Guaranteeing the right to sustainable food	12
2. Promoting and facilitating access to local, seasonal, organic and agroecological produce and sustainable fishing products	15
3. Adopting healthy diets, for people and the planet; with fresh, not ultraprocessed foods	19
4. Eat less and better meat and derivatives	23
5. Reducing food waste and packaging	
6. Fostering fair relations in the food chain	28
7. Nurturing diversity in our fields, at our tables and in our neighbourhoods	31
8. Creating sustainable and empowering food environments	35
9. Transforming the food system with everyone and for everyone	37



Foreword

The food system is at the heart of the greatest

challenges – particularly climate, environmental, social and health emergencies – currently facing the world. The Covid-19 crisis has called into question the status quo of the hyperglobalised world we live in, changed our priorities and highlighted the fragility of our economic and food systems, the interdependence between human societies and the rest of nature, social and personal vulnerabilities, and the critical importance of becoming more resilient.

Although the source of the virus has not yet been fully confirmed by the scientific community, everything suggests that it is related to the food system. In fact, Covid-19 has taught us some



important lessons about food systems. Firstly, industrial agriculture and livestock production are aggravating the loss of habitats for other species everywhere on the planet. This is in turn creating conditions that heighten the risks of new zoonotic diseases, which are those that, like Covid–19, are transmitted from animals to humans. Secondly, although Covid–19 has not resulted in general food supply problems, the movement restrictions made necessary by the pandemic have given rise to a number of disturbances that are testing the resilience of local, regional and global food supply chains with global consequences. These disturbances have revealed many vulnerabilities underlying the entire food chain and have highlighted job insecurity in this sector. As has happened with other essential services workers, those who work in the agricultural and food sector have proven to be the unwilling main actors in the pandemic, taking great health risks to continue to maintain the flow of food for the whole population. Thirdly, the effects of the economic crisis that is already starting to unfold include a worryingly significant increase in food poverty and inequality, particularly among the female population.

In 2021, Barcelona will be the World Sustainable Food Capital and will host the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact Annual Gathering and Mayors' Summit. This is part of the city's serious commitment to making Barcelona a leader and a driver of this process in collaboration with other global cities. Throughout next year, the city will carry out a number of projects and events focusing on sustainable food. Putting sustainable food at the forefront means giving priority to those elements that are most basic to society, nurturing local relationships, highlighting, appreciating and prioritising community action, care and health; fostering a more environmentally friendly society, rebuilding relationships between urban and rural contexts, society and the primary sector; transforming and regenerating human activities so that they can continue on a finite planet; and with the need to generate social and environmental resilience in the medium and long term.

Covid-19 will stay with us for some time, with variable presence and intensity, and is likely not to be the last emergency of this century. It is therefore crucial that we develop and improve processes, tools and partnerships that nurture resilience and can respond to the potential global risks and emergency situations of the future, such as those linked to the climate crisis, in an adequate, rapid and effective manner. It is crucial that we promote food systems that are fair, healthy, sustainable and resilient.

The aim of this handbook is to provide an accessible definition of sustainable food and clearly identify concrete actions to guide the various social actors of the agrifood system so that they can implement this transformation agenda from the point of view of cities and with the aim of being useful and being applied to



decisions and policy-making. The handbook is divided into three parts: the first one addresses the need to transform our agrifood system and cities' role in it; the second defines the concept of sustainable food and explains the nine areas of action covered by it; and the third provides a detailed description of each of these nine areas of action in relation to the problems addressed by it.

We were in no doubt from day one that we wanted to go hand in hand with science and the scientific community to become the world capital of sustainable food and work towards a sustainable food model. Barcelona City Council would therefore like to thank Ana Moragues Faus, the renowned urban food policy expert at the University of Barcelona who is responsible for the preparation of this handbook.

Barcelona, June 2020

Amaranta Herrero Cabrejas,

strategic coordinator of the project Barcelona, 2021 World Sustainable Food Capital

Barcelona World Sustainable Food Capital 2021

Why we need to transform our food system: the role of cities

In Barcelona, a city with a population of 1.6 million people, over five million meals are prepared and eaten every day. Of these, almost a third will end up in the bin. Feeding cities is made possible by a complex and global system that includes all the activities relating to food production, processing, distribution, sale and consumption, as well as waste management. However, our contemporary food system is incapable of feeding us adequately, and it is also generating multiple negative impacts for both people and the planet.

Food is key to people's health. One in

four people in the world die because of an inadequate diet.¹ In other words, these deaths are preventable. Around 3 billion people suffer from malnutrition. Of these, over 820 million go hungry, a number that is on the rise.² At the global level, 21.9% of children suffer from delayed growth due to their diet, while obesity and excess weight levels have reached record figures, affecting 38.9% of the adult population.³ This percentage has been increasing in Barcelona, with 46.3% of the population affected in 2016.4 Obesity and excess weight are more prevalent amongst people in precarious socio-economic situations. For example, this condition affects 65.2% of Barcelona's men in the lowest income threshold, as well as 70.2% of its female residents with a low level of formal education.⁴ It is estimated that



the direct cost of treating excess weight in Spain adds up to €1.95 billion per year and, if this upward trend continues, it is forecast to rise by 440 million per year.⁵ In addition, being overweight increases the likelihood of suffering from other illnesses, such as cardiovascular conditions or cancer, significantly affecting our quality of life and putting increased pressure on our public health system.⁶ it is estimated that one in every five euros invested in public health in Spain is used for treating illnesses resulting, among other factors, from an inadequate diet.⁷ These illnesses are closely linked to poverty. For example, 14% of people in the Barcelona Metropolitan Area cannot afford a balanced diet.⁸ Current predictions on the impact of Covid-19indicate that food poverty will most likely continue to increase.

At the same time, **the food system is vital to our economy**. Barcelona Metropolitan Area residents spend over €8.5 billion a year on food, a quarter of which is consumed outside their homes.⁸ The agrifood industry is Europe's largest sector and the driver of Catalonia's industry, as it accounts for 11.9% of its GDP, primarily through small and medium-sized businesses.⁹ In Spain, 14.1% of workers are employed in the agricultural sector and related services, industry, transport and the distribution of agrifood products.¹⁰ In addition, the



restaurant industry employs over 197,000 people in Catalonia, accounting for about 6% of the employed population.¹¹ However, the economic benefits of the food system are disproportionately concentrated on specific stages of the supply chain, at the expense of others, such as the farming sector or small businesses. A significant portion of jobs in the agrifood chain are precarious and unstable, and they involve long hours and low wages, examples range from waiters to food riders or fruit pickers.¹² The UN Special Rapporteur on extreme poverty recently described the living conditions of Huelva's strawberry pickers as worse than those of some refugee camps.¹³ In addition, some people in the agrifood sector are also exposed to additional risks in addition to their precarious socio-economic situation, such as the health effects of pesticides on farmers and seasonal workers or the high accident rate of certain types of work (e.g. in the meat processing industries).¹⁴ The creation of precarious jobs in the food system means that, in addition to being unable to afford an adequate diet,¹⁵ these people also lack the time and resources to cook quality fresh food. However, the transformation of the food system can be a source of green and high-quality employment, innovation and prosperity.

The planet and its limited resources are also under pressure due to our diets and the intensive agrifood

model that provides us with food. The food system plays a key role in the current climate emergency, as it accounts for 21% to 37% of all greenhouse gas emissions.¹⁶ It is estimated that 70% of all water extracted from aquifers, rivers and lakes is used in agriculture, with these resources often being overexploited.¹⁷ The farming industry is partly responsible for the pollution of water and soil with nitrates, phosphorus, pesticides and pathogens, and these polluting processes are particularly aggravated by the intensification of livestock production and related waste management.¹⁸ In fact, intensive farming has significantly contributed to soil degradation and the destruction of natural habitats,¹⁹ as well as to the reduction of the planet's biodiversity and the current mass extinction of species.²⁰ The loss of biodiversity poses a threat to key services provided by different ecosystems – such as crop pollination, food, water and oxygen production – and restricts their ability to adapt to changes such as droughts or poor management practices. In other words, it makes ecosystems less resilient.²¹ The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) estimates that around 75% of the genetic diversity of agricultural crops was lost in the 20th century.²² More and more stakeholders are advocating a transformation of these farming practices towards more sustainable options that regenerate our limited resources and ecosystems, such as agroecology and organic production.²³ However, the impact caused by our diets does not stop in the fields or on our plates: in addition, we throw away around one third of the food produced for human consumption, approximately 1.3 billion tonnes per year, which is equivalent to the production of 28% of the world's cultivated land.²⁴ A field to plate transformation is thus needed to address these interlinked challenges.

Finally, a number of recent studies have identified **farming as being responsible for around 25% of human infectious diseases**.²⁵ If we include those diseases that originated from other animals, the percentage rises to more than 50%. Recent examples of such diseases include Ebola, bird flu, SARS and possibly Covid-19. Some of the mechanisms that facilitate their spread are closely linked to the practices of industrial livestock farming. For example, the use of antibiotics and antiparasitic drugs on livestock has resulted in resistance to these drugs, some of which are used to treat illnesses in people. The loss of biodiversity (both in crops and in other species) in turn contributes to the spread of diseases from other animals to humans. According to these studies, as agricultural production intensifies, the incidence of infectious diseases will increase.

In this context, **cities play a key role in shaping the food system and its potential transformation**. Urban spaces are responsible for environmental changes at many levels. Although they take up only 3% of the earth's surface area, they consume up to 60% of water resources for domestic use, represent about two thirds of the demand for primary energy, generate more than 50% of waste and produce about 70% of the world's greenhouse gas emissions.²⁶ At the same time, cities generate over 80% of the world's GDP and host a growing number of inhabitants, who account for over 55% of today's world population.²⁷ Cities consume up to 70% of the global food supply,²⁸ even in countries where most of the population is rural. Cities are therefore key agents in the creation of a more sustainable and just food system. This responsibility is increasing since forecasts indicate that by 2050 75% of the world's population will live in cities.²⁷

In the last decade, cities have started to acknowledge the food system's potential to improve citizens'



well-being and create greener, fairer and more prosperous economies and societies. This is proven by the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact, signed by 209 cities from around the globe representing over 450 million inhabitants, who have committed to the development of sustainable, inclusive, resilient, safe and diversified food systems.²⁹ Barcelona was one of the first cities to sign and promote this pact in 2015, and it works side by side with other cities to facilitate and promote sustainable food, for example through the Spanish network *Ciudades por la Agroecología* [Cities for Agroecology]. Barcelona has recently signed the C40 Good Food Cities Declaration, pledging to reduce meat consumption by up to an average of 300 grams per person per day, and to reduce food waste by 50%.³⁰ In addition, in 2021 Barcelona will be the World Sustainable Food Capital and will host the Milan Urban Food Policy Pact Annual Gathering and Mayors' Summit in autumn of the same year. Cities have also been recognised as key actors in the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals, which have been adopted by all the United Nations member states.³¹ Meeting these commitments and addressing the socio-economic, environmental and health challenges of our food system requires us to commit to and decisively support **the principles and practices of sustainable food**.



What is sustainable food?

Sustainable food involves feeding everyone in a way that benefits people, places and the planet. In order to achieve this, food must be produced, transformed, sold, bought and consumed in ways that create prosperity, promote social justice, preserve and regenerate our resources and ecosystems, and safeguard future generations' ability to also feed themselves in a sustainable way³².

Sustainable food is:

- Good for people, because it ensures that everyone has access to the necessary information, skills and resources to produce, prepare, buy and enjoy safe, healthy, high quality and flavoursome food to enable them to lead a full life. To achieve this, sustainable food is sensitive to the needs of the most vulnerable, both in financial and in social terms, such as children, people who are on their own, dependants and migrants.
- Good for places, because it promotes prosperous and diversified local economies that distribute benefits equitably and are able to respond to adversity. It therefore ensures the well-being of the people who work in the food system, both locally and in other places. Sustainable food values traditional diets and knowledge while acknowledging and celebrating the diversity of cultures that enrich



Credits: Photograph courtesy of the Baix Llobregat Agricultural Park Consortium

our territory. At the same time, it creates positive relations between the urban and rural spaces, as well as between the Global South and the Global North, based on respect for ecological cycles, establishing fairer links between territories and fostering more resilient and caring cities.

Good for the planet, because food is produced, transformed, distributed, sold, bought and disposed of in a way that preserves and regenerates our limited resources, such as water and soil, as well as our ecosystems. Sustainable food helps to tackle the climate crisis, ensures animal welfare (both livestock and wildlife), and preserves and fosters the biodiversity of the planet.



Putting this definition of 'sustainable food' into practice means taking the following actions³³:

- Guaranteeing the **right to sustainable food**
- Supporting **local**, **seasonal products that are environmentally friendly**, such as agroecological and organic products and sustainable fishing products
- Adopting wholefood-based diets that are healthy for both people and the planet, and avoiding ultraprocessed products
- Promoting the consumption of less and better **meat** and dairy
- Reducing food waste and packaging
- Fostering **fair relations** in the agrifood chain
- Nurturing diversity in our fields, at our tables and in our neighbourhoods
- Creating sustainable and empowering food environments
- Transforming the food system with everyone and for everyone

These nine areas of action do not work in isolation since, in order to ensure sustainable food for all, we must integrate these different elements and **work in a** systemic way. The transformation of our food requires not only to foster individual changes in our diets but also to reshape current dynamics in the various sectors (economic, health, environmental, social and political), activities (production, processing, distribution, catering, sale, consumption and disposal) and governance levels (individual, community, local, regional, national and international) that will make possible the transformation of this complex system without leaving anyone behind. To this end, it is paramount to understand and take advantage of the interconnections between the various sectors, activities and actors in the food system, as well as to acknowledge the particular characteristics of different places and the interdependencies between them. Barcelona's challenges and capabilities are different from those of other cities such as New York, Milan and New Delhi³⁴. Concrete actions to ensure sustainable food in Barcelona must therefore be adapted to its own unique context. In fact, cities do not feed themselves but rather rely on the existence of dynamic rural areas that supply them with food. Food thus connects many places and actors, from food producers and seed keepers to food industries, research centres, local shops and public institutions. They all have a role and distinctive capacities to change the outcomes of our food system so that it delivers benefits for people, places and the planet. It is therefore important to cooperate with different places in the process of developing and implementing sustainable food actions. In Barcelona, for example, it is crucial to think in terms of the metropolitan region or area in order to coordinate policies and enhance the impact of different food initiatives. For that purpose, it is necessary to create coordination and training spaces that bring together the various municipalities, as well as to take part in experience and knowledge exchange networks at different levels, from regional to internal initiatives.

Finally, it is essential when carrying out these actions to ensure the **effective involvement of different groups**, paying particular attention to the most vulnerable and invisible ones, thus including a gender, class, ethnic and racial perspective that will make it possible to identify opportunities for change and put in place unique, effective actions. "Sustainable food" ultimately relies on **people's ability to decide on their own food system**, that is, building food sovereignty³⁵.

Below the nine key action areas to drive sustainable food are described in detail. For each area, we have identified current challenges, followed by concrete possible actions to address them³⁶.

The **9 dimensions** of sustainable food





alimentaciosostenible.barcelona





Guaranteeing the right to sustainable food

Problem

The right to food is a human right acknowledged by international law that protects **the right of every person to adequate food**, either by producing their own or by acquisition ³⁷. However, global data on malnutrition shows that this right is not respected. In Barcelona, 8.6% of households suffer from some form of food insecurity, with 4% of these suffering from severe food insecurity. This means that not only the quality of their food is low but so is the amount of food consumed by adults and children. Single-parent families (14.6%), as well as the more



disadvantaged social classes (24.8 per cent), suffer from greater food insecurity. Ciutat Vella is the district with the highest food insecurity (23.1%), followed by Nou Barris (17.3%)³⁸.

In urban areas, food insecurity is primarily related to a lack of physical and especially financial access to adequate food, i.e. **food poverty**. The strategies used by families to alleviate these situations are very varied and include actions such as going to food banks or skipping meals. For example, around 15% of teenagers in Barcelona city go to school without breakfast³⁹. A number of studies show a clear trend: a lack of resources leads to a change in diet, replacing nutritious foods such as fruit and vegetables with cheap, high-calorie foodstuffs⁴⁰. The difference in cost between a healthy and an inadequate diet in Spain can be over €100 per week for a household, a significant amount that some groups cannot afford⁷. These effects have an impact on the health of both adults and children, showcasing a clear relationship between poverty and obesity or excess weight. In Catalonia, 10.6% of children under 14 are obese, but this problem is three times more widespread in the most disadvantaged groups (13.6%) than in wealthier groups (3.9%)⁴¹. It is therefore essential that we not only feed people but we also **guarantee their right to sustainable food**.

The challenges to access quality food have been exacerbated by the Covid-19 pandemic. Countries such as the United Kingdom have seen the number of people unable to access adequate food multiply by four, which accounts for 16.2% of the population⁴². In Catalonia, in the first eight weeks of lockdown, food bank demand rose by 30%, and enquiries about food aid increased fourfold⁴³. However, it is estimated that food bank users account for only 25% of people suffering from food insecurity⁴⁴. Consequently, the number of food bank users probably represents just the tip iceberg and the rise in the number of people struggling to eat properly is likely to be much greater. In this context,, we urgently need to make people's right to sustainable food a reality.



What can we do?

It is essential that we **satisfy the human right to sustainable food** globally and eradicate food poverty in our cities. In order to achieve this, there are a number of options and criteria that are crucial to satisfy this right in a dignified manner⁴⁵:

- Promoting inclusion and normalisation by supporting initiatives that foster **personal and social autonomy** so that people can choose what food they buy and where they buy it. In order to do this, we must guarantee a minimum income and, until this is available, we should develop tools that promote autonomy, such as prepaid cash cards. Initiatives such as food banks and donations should therefore only be available in emergencies and should always be temporary, as they restrict people's options and decision-making power.
- Ensuring access to quality food: Eating is not just about getting enough calories: it is also about meeting nutritional needs. Everyone deserves access to culturally acceptable quality food. It is therefore important to include fresh, seasonal, local, organic and agroecological foods (see sections 2 and 3) when designing food initiatives. Sustainable school canteens are a clear example of how to guarantee and democratise sustainable food, by ensuring its access to all children and overcoming socio-economic differences. Similarly, it is important to avoid resolving the issue of food poverty by merely donating surplus food and other food that would otherwise go to waste. The leftovers of an inefficient system must be managed by all the actors in the food chain, making it more efficient, rather than simply being routinely redirected to the most vulnerable groups, who deserve to have the same food options as the rest of society. As explained in section 5, there are many mechanisms for making use of food in good condition before it goes to waste and at the same time avoid generating further food inequalities.
- Supporting community projects based on equity and reciprocity where there are no distinctions based on each person's socio-economic status. Initiatives such as community kitchens and soup kitchens arising from the experience of people in vulnerable situations where they are the protagonists and are involved in making decisions promote people's autonomy and empowerment, foster self-organisation, self-management and the development of mutual support capabilities which contribute to addressing structural aspects linked to social inequalities. There are also other initiatives, such as social supermarkets, community stores and consumer cooperatives, based on the same solidarity principles⁴⁶.
- Ensuring that the public services that feed the most vulnerable people, such as school canteens, serve sustainable food 365 days a year (see, in particular, sections 2, 3 and 4). Places run by public bodies have great potential for leading change in the food system by setting an example of best practice. Public procurement is a key tool that can be used together with other measures, such as the development of a comprehensive approach to sustainable food in schools that includes academic and practical content, vegetable gardens, cooking workshops, school canteens, family involvement and application of best practices when holding events, such as waste free school parties⁴⁷.
- Creating multi-sector and multi-actor task forces and strategies to guarantee the right to food. These spaces help to identify the different processes that lead to people experiencing food poverty in any given neighbourhood or city (from delays in the receipt of aid/benefits to a lack of cooking infrastructure), improve the use and coordination of various resources and support available, and promote the development of medium- and long-term actions to address the structural factors that cause poverty. In this line, it is important to enable those people who are experiencing or have previously experienced food poverty to be involved in the design of strategies and initiatives⁴⁸ (see section 9).



2 Promoting and facilitating access to local, seasonal, organic and agroecological produce and sustainable fishing products

Problem

Farming plays an essential role in our societies, as it feeds a growing number of people. There are different ways of producing food, ranging from agroecological to industrial techniques. Industrial farming, which is often referred to as *conventional agriculture*, entails using synthetic fertilisers and pesticides and intensive farming techniques⁴⁹. This type of farming is partly responsible for the processes of deforestation, soil degradation, water pollution and greenhouse gas emissions⁵⁰. In addition, it can damage the health of ecosystems



and living beings, including humans. For example, food produced using industrial techniques is more likely to contain residues, such as traces of nitrates, pesticides, drugs given to animals and food additives, which may have adverse effects on health and the environment⁵¹. Some of these substances, such as organophosphate or organochlorine pesticides, can alter our hormonal balance (they are endocrine disruptors), contributing to increase the rate of certain tumours and malformations as well as neurological, reproductive and immune system disorders⁵². The use of some of these substances has been banned in Europe in 2020, and the newly launched European Farm to Fork strategy aims to reduce the use and risk of chemical pesticides by 50% and the use of more hazardous pesticides by 50% by 2030⁵³. However, these advances in the regulation of chemical compounds are tarnished by the overuse of exceptional authorisations of banned pesticides and the rising use of such pesticides in countries of the Global South⁵⁴.

Linked to these industrial production methods, complex storage and transport systems have been developed creating global food distribution chains that have allowed cities to grow exponentially⁵⁵. Technological changes throughout history have enabled cities not to depend on local food systems and instead rely on a global system that provides them with oranges from Argentina or beans from Kenya so that any product can be consumed anywhere in the world 365 days a year. The distance between where food is produced and where it is consumed entails an additional use of energy⁵⁶, requires more infrastructure to be built, makes territories less self-sufficient, disconnects us from the seasonal rhythms of



local farming and can foster unfair relations in the food chain, benefiting those companies with the greatest purchasing power⁵⁷. In fact, it is estimated that 90% of the world's transport is handled by ten agricultural commodity traders , 90% of food processing is carried out by ten companies, and 30% of grocery sales are controlled by ten retail corporations⁵⁸. Under this system, food becomes a commodity instead of a common good and a right⁵⁹.

In addition, the effects of the current food system are also having negative impacts on our seas and oceans. At present, 33.1% of the world's fisheries are being exploited beyond sustainable levels (a figure that rises to more than 62% in the Mediterranean, the world's most overexploited sea), and more than 55% of the surface area of oceans is exploited by industrial fishing⁶⁰. Marine populations as a whole halved between 1970 and 2012⁶¹. The main reasons for this situation are overfishing, illegal fishing, destructive fishing methods and the climate crisis: the oceans are absorbing a disproportionate proportion of the heat that is reaching the planet, which is in turn causing dead zones to appear in the oceans due to their accelerated acidification. In addition to the loss of marine biodiversity and ecosystems, there is the negative economic impact on those human communities that rely on marine resources for their survival.

What can we do?

Promote, sell and buy local and seasonal produce: as the definition of 'local product' is not regulated, it is not easy to establish what it means in practice. In many cities, work on finding a definition has been carried out by establishing criteria in farmers' markets or public procurement guidelines such as the demarcation of a specific area (e.g. Catalonia) or action radius (e.g. up to a distance of 200 km). A commonly used criterion is the use of **seasonal** products that are as local as possible⁶². Seasonal products can be more flavourful and affordable, while local foods can be fresher and benefit local farming and the local economy in addition to helping reconnect consumers with the source of their food^{63,64}. Identifying these products often involves providing details of their origin on the label or buying from markets and establishments that sell local produce (see below).

There are certifications that highlight the value of foodstuffs in relation to the specific territory where they are produced with the aim of preserving local breeds, varieties, landscapes and traditions, thus supporting local economies. There are two key European labelling systems: Protected Designation of Origin (PDO), which identifies those foodstuffs produced in a particular place whose quality is linked to their natural and human factors (such as cheese from Alt Urgell and Cerdanya); and Protected Geographical Indication (PGI), which identifies those foodstuffs produced in a particular place and whose quality is partly due to the characteristics of that place and at least one stage of production takes place in that place (such as lamb from the Catalan Pyrenees, which is based on the extensive or semi-extensive farming of native breeds)⁶⁵. The origin of farming products is also highlighted by local campaigns or inventories such as the Generalitat de Catalunya's *Llibre dels productes de la terra* [*Book of Local Products*]⁶⁶.

Purchase directly from local producers and through short food supply chains: Shopping directly from local producers helps reconnect consumers with the source of their food and their local community. It also reduces the distance travelled by foodstuffs as, although products are often relatively local, they go through a number of processing and storage facilities that may be at considerable distances from each other, causing unnecessary impacts⁶⁷. Such purchases can be made through producers who sell products from their own properties, at municipal markets, at farmers' markets or through direct purchases of fruit and vegetable boxes. It is increasingly common for producers to establish partnerships with each other and with local shops and intermediaries, thus creating short food supply chains. There are many initiatives to shorten food chains and share profits more equitably, such as cooperatives, consumer groups and partnerships with municipal markets and local shops. These more direct purchasing methods benefit the local economy, preventing the depopulation of rural areas and protecting production areas and agricultural landscapes⁶³.



At present, and particularly since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic, online shopping and home delivery have become an increasingly important marketing channel for local producers and their partners, which gives the general public and particularly groups that are more vulnerable to the disease or who have mobility problems physical access to these products. This trend provides an opportunity to innovate in terms of physical, social and digital infrastructure, ranging from central storage facilities to centralised ordering applications. It is essential to create systems that facilitate the distribution of these products to a greater proportion of the population while, at the same time, avoiding an increase of their carbon footprint as a result of an expansion of individual transport, reinforcing the disconnection between people or relying on global distribution platforms that do not generate prosperity⁶⁸ (see section 7).

Buy organic and agroecological products: organic products are food products that have been grown without synthetic chemical pesticides or fertilisers (such as fungicides, insecticides or herbicides). They therefore avoid generating toxic synthetic chemical residues that can build up in ecosystems or our bodies⁵¹. They are produced using farming practices that are respectful towards their environment: their management is adapted to the conditions of the specific territory, maintaining crop and other biodiversity, preventing the pollution of water and soil, reducing reliance on oil, and with a lower impact on the atmosphere.⁶⁹ In

addition, the price received for their crops by organic producers is usually higher and more stable, enabling them to earn a better living⁷⁰. Genetically Modified crops or ingredients are not allowed in this type of farming system.

These products can be identified through labels issued by official bodies that inspect and certify this type of farming on a regular basis, generating trust in this type of products⁷¹. In addition to organic plant production, these labels also certify animal and processed products, ensuring the following conditions:

- Organic livestock production practices do not permit the use of antibiotics or certain additives in animal feed and ensure greater animal welfare as a result of better rearing conditions, best practices and feeding of livestock on organic products or pasture (for more information, see section 4).
- Processed organic products are plant or animal products processed using techniques that minimise forms of contamination and loss of quality by restricting the use of additives and processing aids.

It is worth noting that some producers work to high environmental and animal welfare standards but are not certified as organic for a variety of reasons. This applies, for example, to some **agroecological producers**. Agroecological production is not just about producing food in a way that is respectful of the environment; it is also about ensuring the farming's economic and social sustainability by fostering diverse practices, ecosystems and knowledge, and creating circular and solidarity Agroecology is a modality of agriculture based on ecological practices that not only uses traditional and scientific knowledge but also constitutes a social and political project to foster an integral transformation of food systems. It is therefore said to be a scientific discipline, a set of farming practices and a social movement.

Agroecology combines scientific research and community experimentation and drives responsible innovation and technologies that are knowledgeintensive but also low-cost and easy to adapt to small and medium-sized producers. As a farming practice, agroecology uses biological processes to produce healthy and diversified crops, recycling nutrients and without synthetic chemical products (pesticides, fertilisers or antibiotics). Agroecology aims to imitate the way nature itself works by making use of local resources without compromising their integrity or their future availability. In addition to ensuring ecological sustainability in the fields, agroecology is also concerned with social and economic issues, such as working conditions and the need to transform markets to include equality, justice, cooperation, care ethics and responsible production and consumption principles. As a political movement, agroecology is based on food sovereignty, therefore aiming to guarantee peoples' right to affordable nutritious and culturally appropriate food produced in a sustainable and environmentally friendly way, and their right to decide on their own food and production system.

Agroecology is currently acknowledged by governments and institutions around the world as an effective and necessary approach to reducing hunger and injustice, improving health, conserving ecosystems, creating resilience and reducing the impact of agriculture on the climate crisis.



economies⁷². It is therefore important for the support of agroecology to establish close, trust-based relationships between producers and consumers. In some cases, these networks are established by means of participatory guarantee systems, a form of certification in which producers and consumers work together to establish production criteria based on sustainability and mutual support⁷³.

Consume, promote or sell sustainable fish products in a responsible manner, avoiding products from trawling, fishing grounds and overexploited species (see the list <u>here</u>), and choosing fish with the MSC label for wild catch, ASC for fish farms or organic fish. The MSC and ASC labels are granted by the organisation Marine Stewardship Council which relies on independent audits of the whole supply chain, from the boats all the way to the consumers. These costs are borne by the companies wishing to be certified. The two labels certify fish from fisheries exploited at around the maximum sustainable rate (60% of the total, according to the FAO) or under-exploited fisheries (7%), and both managed in ways that ensure their sustainability. The organic label is only available for organic fish, which has to meet minimum welfare standards and use higher quality feed .

Choose also products caught with more selective and marine diversity-friendly techniques, such as smaller fishing gear, including cages, rakes, fish traps and trammel nets. The fishing gear used to catch the fish in question must be specified on labels at the point of sale⁷⁴. It is also worth noting that 80% of the carbon footprint of fisheries is linked to the use of fuel and, therefore, techniques such as bottom trawling are energy-intensive⁷⁵.

Value fishing communities and our heritage: Barcelona has a fishing port in la Barceloneta, whose fisherfolk and network of collaborators are actively involved in preserving the maritime culture and bringing it closer to the public. One of their activities is to add value and inform the public about species that, in spite of not being in high demand, have high culinary and gastronomic value; as well as showcasing the role of the different elements that sustain this activity, from the fisherfolk, fish and local markets to traditional recipes and consumers⁷⁶.





3 Adopting healthy diets, for people and the planet; with fresh, not ultraprocessed foods

Problem

In Spain, inadequate diets cause around 90,000 deaths a year. In Catalonia, it is estimated that one in five deaths might be related to bad diets⁷⁷. It is therefore urgent to adopt healthier diets and, at the same time, promote production, processing, distribution, marketing and consumption practices with a lower environmental impact. Meeting this challenge is possible. In 2019, the EAT-Lancet Commission proposed a number of criteria to define healthy and sustainable diets, i.e. a **'planetary health diet'**⁷⁸. Its report pointed out that



diets that harm the health of people and the planet are those high in calories, added sugars, saturated fats, processed foods and red meat. Furthermore, the environmental degradation associated with such diets can further damage people's health, for example causing premature deaths as a result of air pollution linked to farming and its expansion on natural ecosystems, or the reduction of productivity due to changes in climate conditions.

However, processed food consumption has grown exponentially in recent decades: 70% of the Spanish diet is based on processed food⁷. There are different levels of processing, from crushed tomatoes or olive oil to frozen lasagne or sugary drinks. The last two examples are in the category of ultraprocessed products. Ultraprocessed products include snacks, drinks, ready-made meals and many other products prepared from substances derived from other foods or synthesised from diverse organic sources, such as sugars, oils, fats, proteins, fibres and starch. In some cases, these substances have been subject to chemical processes such as hydrogenation; and might include additives, such as colouring, sweetener, flavour enhancers and preservatives, which make the products highly palatable. These industrial foodstuffs are generally rich in salt, sugar or fats and low in fibre, protein or micronutrients⁷⁹. In other words, they provide empty calories, with very little nutritional content. The processes and ingredients used to produce ultraprocessed products are designed to create convenient and very profitable products for instant consumption (low ingredient cost and long shelf life). In addition, they are the subject of aggressive marketing and advertising strategies that lead to an excessive consumption of these products⁸⁰. Global sales of ultraprocessed products have risen by 43.7% in the last thirteen years⁷. Most of the calories consumed in high-income countries are now from ultraprocessed products⁸¹, and the consumption of such products is even more common in urban areas⁸². These products have devastating effects on our health. Studies have shown that a 10% increase in



the proportion of ultraprocessed food in our diets is linked to a greater than 10% increase in the likelihood of cancer⁸³. A study carried out in Spain shows that the mortality risk of people who get more than 33% of their daily calories from ultraprocessed products is 44% higher than that of people who receive less than 14% of calories from these products⁸⁴. The Spanish National Health Survey shows a clear link between unhealthy eating and income: People on lower incomes eat less fresh fruit and vegetables and drink almost four times more sugary drinks than wealthier people⁸⁵. Furthermore, ultraprocessed products have a high environmental impact. For example, an Australian study has shown that eating ultraprocessed foods contributes to more than one third of the overall environmental effects linked to diet, such as water and energy consumption and CO₂ emissions⁸⁶.

Food safety is also essential for protecting our health. In the context of Covid-19, this topic has become even more relevant. The EU has a food safety alert system that identifies and manages various types of hazards: a) the presence of pathogenic microorganisms such as Salmonella, Listeria, E. coli, norovirus or *Campylobacter*; b) chemical hazards such as pesticide residues, which can be found particularly in fruit and vegetables, as well as compounds such as fipronil in eggs (proof of its illegal use as an antibiotic for animals), heavy metals, undeclared allergens, mycotoxins or the presence of industrial contaminants or chemical substances from packaging; c) physical hazards from the accidental contamination of the product, which can cause choking or damage to the digestive system; and d) other hazards, such as the identification of fraudulent food⁸⁷.

What can we do?

Planetary health diets are based on a greater consumption of plant-based food, including fruit, vegetables, nuts, seeds, pulses and whole grains. In accordance with the World Health Organization's recommendation, it is important to ensure that these healthy foods, particularly fresh fruit and vegetables, are more readily available, accessible



Breastfeeding: Mothers, based on their values and circumstances, have the right to decide freely how to feed their babies. There are many reasons why mothers may decide not to breastfeed, and it is important to respect this decision since it concerns their bodies and their lives.

FAO and the WHO consider breastfeeding to be the first guiding principle of a healthy and sustainable diet*. Breastmilk is the most local, healthy and naturefriendly food that can be given to babies, because it is designed to meet their nutritional needs and involves no transport or packaging. The World Health Organization recommends exclusive breastfeeding until 6 months of age, and breastfeeding in combination with solid foods up to 2 years of age**. According to this organisation, breastfeeding protects children from illness in both the short and the long term, not only by making them less likely to suffer from digestive and respiratory problems but also by reducing the likelihood of excess weight, obesity and allergies later in life. In addition, it benefits the mother too, among other things, by reducing the risk of breast and ovarian cancer and type 2 diabetes. In spite of these benefits, only 39% of babies in Spain are breastfed by the time they reach 6 months of age***.

It is important to give those mothers who wish to breastfeed the necessary facilities to enable them to do so. According to the WHO, in Europe there are several factors that discourage mothers from breastfeeding, such as limited work-life balance policies, poverty, poor access to health services, social exclusion, obesity, policies and practices that discourage breastfeeding at work, or the marketing of formula (which is made from animal milk and considered an ultraprocessed product). It is therefore essential to improve work-life balance policies, develop specific measures, and design public and private spaces in our cities that support breastfeeding mothers, for example through the creation of breastfeeding rooms, the promotion of breastfeeding areas in cafés and public spaces and the provision of appropriate street furniture in the city. he integration of breastfeeding in the city is essential to bring about a cultural change resulting in women feeling safe and comfortable breastfeeding outside their homes.

 http://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/ca6640en/
 http://www.ho.int/features/factfiles/breastfeeding/es/_
 https://www.ine.es/ss/Satellite?L=es_ES&c=INESeccion_C&cid=125992
 6457058&p=1254735I10672&pagename=ProductosYServicios%2FPYSLayout¶m1=PYSDetalle¶m3=1259924822888

and affordable than their unhealthy alternatives⁸⁸. For example, some British cities have launched campaigns to increase vegetable consumption ('veg cities') and promote changes from field to fork. Such initiatives show that there is a great diversity of tools for promoting planetary health diets, ranging from



voluntary campaigns where different actors commit to specific targets to the development of incentives such as financial support and awards, or the establishment of disincentives such as taxes or bans. Some essential actions include, among others⁸⁹:

Encouraging the **sustainable production of plant-based foodstuffs:** It is important to work with producers to develop and implement strategies aimed at increasing plant-based production, ensure it is profitable and make the sector more resilient. This includes promoting vegetable gardens for schools and personal use that encourage participants to eat fruit and vegetables and increase people's knowledge about health, nutrition and sustainable food⁹⁰ (see also the section on urban and peri-urban agriculture in section 7 on diversity).

Improving the availability of healthy foods: Shops can take steps to encourage people to buy healthy food, for example by displaying vegetables in strategic parts of shops and placing products with high sugar, fat or salt contents far from the checkout areas⁹¹. Food processing and transformation companies, for their part, can increase the amount of vegetables in their products, such as sandwiches and lasagne. Similarly, the restaurant sector and public canteens can increase the amount of healthy products on their menus, for example by offering at least two types of vegetables at each meal, particularly in children's menus. These initiatives can also be implemented in other settings, such as vending machines or food vans, replacing ultraprocessed products with healthy foods. Other examples of best practices are New York's attempt to limit the maximum size of sugary drinks⁹², or Brighton's initiative to establish a voluntary tax on such drinks, with proceeds going to children's sports projects⁹³ (for more related initiatives, see section 8 on food environments).

Guaranteeing access to quality fresh vegetables for everyone, particularly for

the most vulnerable: The difference of €100 per week between a healthy and an inadequate diet in Spain can constitute an insurmountable gap for many families⁷. Food banks are playing a critical role in feeding people in situations of poverty, particularly in the context of the emergency caused by Covid-19 but, in the long term, we must ensure access to fresh products and a healthy diet in more empowering manners. There are many ways to achieve this. For example, in the United States, farmers' markets accept food vouchers. In Wales, there are consumer groups



that facilitate affordable access to fresh produce. Facilitating the consumption of fresh food in front of processed foodstuffs also requires ensuring access to cooking facilities and utensils particularly in the case of vulnerable groups, which also entails other costs such as a higher energy expenditure. Food poverty clearly overlaps with other forms of poverty. It is therefore paramount to acknowledge the importance of food infrastructure as well as food knowledge and skills when designing interventions to guarantee the right to sustainable food (, see section 1 on the right to sustainable food). Finally, schools, social services and primary care facilities can play a significant role in the provision of health and food-related information and resources. In this line, an innovative example is social prescribing; i.e. medical staff prescribe participation in community kitchens or allotments to improve people's physical and mental health through community projects⁹⁴.

Increasing the appeal of healthy eating: The main aim of this line of action is to promote a cultural change towards society valuing sustainable food and rejecting ultraprocessed products. In order to achieve this cultural change, it is important to involve a great diversity of actors and profiles capable of influencing society so eating sustainable food is considered delicious and the new normal. Advertising, among other factors, plays an essential role in fostering these changes (see section 8, below, on food environments).



Regarding **food safety**, this is a heavily regulated area which aims to protect people's health. The Spanish Agency for Food Safety and Nutrition (AESAN) provides risk prevention information in relation to food preparation and consumption. As a general guideline, it is important to observe good hygiene in spaces used for food conservation, preparation and consumption⁹⁵. It is also essential to consider the needs of different groups when designing health and hygiene legislation. For example, it is very difficult for small farms and processing companies to meet the same requirements as expected for a large industrial factory⁹⁶. Food legislation must be designed to safeguard our health while acknowledging the diversity of the food system, facilitating the transition to a sustainable diet. Barcelona World Sustainable Food Capital 2021

4 Eating less and better meat and derivatives

Problem

There is mounting evidence of the **negative health impacts of eating <u>excessive</u> amounts of meat and dairy on**. As explained in the planetary health diet proposal, the consumption of red and processed meat has been linked to certain types of cancer and other diseases, such as diabetes, cardiovascular disease and heart attacks. The <u>Spanish Society of Community Nutrition (SENC)</u> recommends eating no more than 475 grams of meat per week (125 grams of red or processed meat and 325 grams of white meat). However,



in Spain people consume four times the recommended amounts⁹⁷. In fact, according to the Barcelona Public Health Agency, 78% of children between 3 and 4 years of age eat more meat than recommended⁹⁸. Furthermore, a quarter of the meat consumed is processed, a percentage that is on the rise despite the warnings of organisations such as the World Cancer Research Fund, which recommends keeping its consumption to an absolute minimum^{99,100}. Meat consumption in Spain has recently fallen slightly: 2.6% between 2017 and 2018⁹⁸.

According to the United Nations, global livestock farming is responsible for 14.5% of greenhouse gas emissions¹⁰¹. This contribution is higher than the direct emissions produced by the world's cars, lorries and aeroplanes combined¹⁰². It is therefore a sector **that contributes significantly to the current climate crisis**. In spite of this, it is essential that we **acknowledge the different types of livestock farming which have very different environmental impacts**. In fact, the main reasons for these environmental impacts are the following¹⁰³:

- A significant part of global livestock production entails using intensive and industrial management techniques. In other words, it is carried out in closed facilities, using animal feeds from conventional markets and often from other countries which result in generation of high levels of polluting waste and use of large amounts of energy and other external inputs¹⁰⁴. In these cases, an important amount of resources are mobilised to produce relatively small amounts of meat or animal products. For example, 7 kg of feed and 15,415 litres of water for 1 kg of beef; 4 kg of feed and 5,988 litres for 1 kg of pork; 3,265 litres for 1 kg of egg; or 2 kg of feed and 4,325 litres for 1 kg of chicken¹⁰⁵. In addition, the production of animal feed generates emissions, particularly of nitrogen oxide, thereby also contributing to the climate crisis¹⁰⁶.
- The digestive systems of livestock, particularly ruminant animals such as cattle and sheep, emit methane, a gas that contributes to the greenhouse effect.



- Forests and other natural greenhouse gas absorption systems are cut down to give way to new grazing livestock systems and also to produce animal feed (mainly genetically modified maize and soy). Such practices also have a negative impact on local ecosystems and biodiversity.
- Animals, animal feed, meat products and waste from industrial farming are often transported long distances with energy-intensive cooling systems.
- The consumption of meat and animal products is on the rise. Although this trend has slowed down in the Global North, it is estimated that demand for animal products in countries of the Global South will double by 2030 (as compared to consumption levels in 2000)¹⁰⁷.

Most of the meat and animal products consumed in Spain come from industrial and intensive livestock farming, which often means that animals live in confined spaces. **Animal welfare** is highly regulated in Europe, but these standards are often considered insufficient in the case of intensive livestock farming¹⁰⁸. For example, 82% of Spain's laying hens live without sunlight in cages the size of a standard sheet of paper¹⁰⁹. Spain is the top country for this type of farming, which is decreasing in other parts of Europe: in countries such as Germany, the Netherlands and Austria, only about 10% of all hens are caged¹¹⁰.

What can we do?

There is an increasing amount of scientific evidence of the benefits of **eating more plant-based foods**, such as fruit, vegetables, pulses, nuts, seeds and whole grains, for both our health and the environment^{III}. People with plant-based diets are less prone to obesity and excess weight^{II2}, have fewer blood pressure and cholesterol issues, have a 32% lower risk of suffering from heart disease^{II3} and a 10–12% lower risk of developing cancer^{II4}. This is because, if they are balanced, vegan and



vegetarian diets are generally lower in fat, salt and sugar and higher in fibre, and they contain a wide variety of nutrients, such as vitamins and minerals.

It is therefore important to **reduce excessive meat consumption, particularly of processed and intensively produced red meat.** There are many initiatives to encourage these changes. For example, in the city of Ghent, every Thursday is Veggie day, and more than 90 restaurants, 20 hotels and 50% of the population become vegetarian for the day. This weekly activity includes the promotion of venues offering vegetarian food by means of maps and holding vegetarian cooking courses for professional chefs and families. Other similar actions include reducing meat portions and processed products in restaurants, encouraging the food service industry and events to include vegetarian and vegan options, or involvement of public institutions in providing support and disseminating these types of good practices and others led by the private sector.

When we eat meat, it is important to **support local products from organic farming and from systems combining crop-livestock and extensive livestock production**; i.e. 'livestock that uses local fodder resources by means of grazing, generally using breeds and varieties that are adapted to the conditions of their environment and therefore require few external inputs (including both material ones (feed and other food) and energy inputs) and develops under sustainable conditions⁴¹¹⁵. Diversification of animal breeds and their feed is key to increasing tolerance to climate changes, pest outbreaks and diseases¹¹⁶. Such support can be provided through individual purchases or by facilitating the participation of these producers in local markets, encouraging them to increase their supply in small shops and municipal markets. The food service sector and public canteens (such as those of schools, hospitals and care homes) can also play a key role



by serving these products. The increase in supply can be complemented by promotional and educational activities or the general public and agrifood professionals on the role of this type of livestock farming in creating more sustainable food systems f.

The certifications that differentiate products with higher animal welfare standards or a lower environmental impact include, among others:

- Organic certification: Organic animal products are produced under decent living conditions for livestock and herds that respect their biological and behavioural needs. These animals are also fed on organic products. The herbivores have access to pasture, and the poultry and pigs have access to courtyards. Their indoor rearing space is regulated and must have a minimum surface area, let plenty of natural light in and be perfectly ventilated. Ensuring good animal health is related to choosing suitable breeds, good husbandry practices, appropriate density and high-quality feed. The use of antibiotics for preventive purposes is not authorised.
- Products from extensive and pasture-fed livestock farming: There is currently no certification as such with a label that regulates extensive and pasture-fed animal farming. However, there are many initiatives promoting extensive livestock farming and pastoralism due to their benefits for the environment and animal welfare. These initiatives emphasise the positive impacts of supporting this type of livestock farming on the rural environment and local economies, and consequently also promote local consumption. Examples of such initiatives include, among others, participatory guarantee systems ['certificación social participativa']; dedicated platforms for finding producers, shops, consumer groups and restaurants¹¹⁷; or movements such as the Platform for Extensive Livestock Farming and Pastoralism (*Plataforma por la Ganadería Extensiva y el Pastoralismo*)¹¹⁸ and the group #sompastores in Catalonia, which highlight the positive impact of these practices beyond consumption.
- Free-range eggs and chicken: chicken farming is one of the most intensive livestock farming activities. A number of different farming models can be identified using the numbers printed on the eggs (in brackets), which represent an animal welfare ranking from lowest to highest: caged (3), barns(2), free-range (1) and organic (0). The best option for environmental and animal welfare purposes are organic products (see above). Alternatively, the conditions for rearing free-range hens include uninterrupted, all-day access to an outdoor space. This space must be mostly covered in vegetation, and there are limits on density, with a minimum of 4 m² per hen¹¹⁹. These differences in animal welfare are significant compared to conditions in barn or cage systems, where hens are rarely exposed to sunlight and live in comparatively dense spaces.



5 Reducing food waste and packaging

Problem

Over 1.3 billion tonnes of food are wasted every year, from the field to our plates.¹²⁰ We throw away between 25% to 30% of the food produced for human consumption which generates around 8% to 10% of all human-generated greenhouse gas emissions¹²¹. This waste of resources has environmental and socio-economic impacts. For example, if this waste was used to feed livestock, it would free up enough grain to feed an additional 3 billion people a year; in other words, 40% of the world's population¹²².



Food is wasted throughout the entire food chain. In the EU, it is estimated that households are responsible for around 53% of food waste, while 19% is generated in food processing, 12% in food services, 11% in production and 5% in wholesale and retail¹²³. In Spain, the households that waste less food are those from lower socio-economic backgrounds, together with independent adults and young people, single-parent households and retired people¹²⁴.

The food system not only generates food waste but also uses a very large amount of **packaging**, from packaged fresh fruit to takeaway meals. Part of this food packaging can help extend food's shelf life , but in many cases serves merely cosmetic purposes. Also many packaging materials are not easily recyclable. The manufacturing of packaging uses precious resources and energy, from metals for making tins to oil and chemical additives for making plastic. Plastic has become one of the main waste management challenges due to its widespread use, low recycling rate, and impacts on people and the planet. Every minute we pour the equivalent of one garbage truck of plastic into the ocean , but the impact of plastic packaging is even greater: it is estimated that, in Spain alone, around 50% of plastics end up in landfill, making them more likely to pollute the water, air and soil^{125,126}. Microplastics are also increasingly affecting both animals and people, particularly those who drink bottled water, with potentially harmful effects on their health¹²⁷. Bottled water thus has significant ecological costs – relating to bottling and transport – as well as financial costs: in Catalan households, €1,000 worth of bottled water would cost 17€ for the same volume from the tap¹²⁸.

What can we do?

The best waste is the waste that is never produced in the first place. It is therefore crucial to foster **practices and the development of skills that minimise food waste** throughout the entire food system, from production to consumption. In this line, it is important to value sustainable food practices that minimise overuse and waste of resources. Such practices are often carried out by groups with fewer resources and



generally are rather invisible since they do not involve consuming more or different products but making better use of them¹²⁹. For example¹³⁰:

- Avoiding excessive consumption: Planning one's shopping and meals helps minimise waste. Access to knowledge about the nutritional needs of different groups in society, from infants to elderly people, is useful for this purpose. Shops can encourage responsible consumption by removing 'Buy One, Get One Free' and similar offers, which contribute to food waste.
- Storing food appropriately in larders or cooling systems. This includes, for example, storing fruit in well ventilated conditions and knowing the differences between 'best before' and expiry dates on labels. If we want to encourage people to consume fresh produce, it is important to ensure that they have access to cooling systems and adequate food storage spaces.
- Avoiding waste by reusing or sharing: This includes, for example, using leftovers or sharing them with others through personal relationships, donating surplus food to food redistribution initiatives such as community fridges, and encouraging restaurant customers to take their leftovers home. Another example of a food loss prevention action in the field is the <u>Espigoladors</u> initiative, which combines the efficient use of food, the right to a healthy diet and the creation of job opportunities for groups at risk of social exclusion.
- Reconsidering sizes and sale criteria: This includes actions such as offering smaller portions and adjustable sizes, encouraging people to buy in bulk or putting products on special offer before they become perishable, all of which can help minimise food waste in people's homes, businesses and the restaurant industry. Supplying and buying products that do not meet certain requirements as to size and appearance also helps to minimise food losses in the field.
- When food waste is created, however, there are a number of options to minimise its impact, such as using it to feed livestock, composting it individually or collectively to make fertiliser that can be used in urban allotments or school vegetable gardens, or recycling it by separating the organic matter from the other components for recovery.

There are many options for reducing the impact of the packaging used in the food system. The first option must always be to **minimise the use of packaging**¹³¹. There is an increasing number of alternatives to stop using such packaging. A clear example is the use of tap water and fountains instead of bottled water, or carrying reusable bottles. In order to motivate these changes, it is important to ensure easy access to quality water in public and private spaces. Along similar lines, an increasing number of individual and collective initiatives are encouraging zero waste practices and **reusing containers**, such as buying in bulk, using fabric bags to weigh fruit and vegetables, reusing shopping bags, using reusable coffee cups and crockery in everyday life and at events, or even using one's own containers at the butchers' or to take leftovers home. Not all containers can be safely reused, so it is important to choose ones made out of materials that are suitable for frequent use¹³². In addition, food safety standards must be considered, and consumers' responsibility in these initiatives must be clearly defined.

Although reducing the amount of packaging or reusing it are the most desirable options, it is also possible to **replace the most polluting containers with others less harmful for our planet**; e.g. replacing polypropylene trays with recycled cardboard trays. However, it is worth considering every impact; i.e. the life cycle of each material from the manufacturing stage to its recycling or disposal, as some materials presented as biodegradable might actually contain plastics originating from fossil fuels¹²⁵.



6 Fostering fair relations in the food chain

Problem

The world of work is going through major changes such as digitisation, the fragmentation of job contracts or robotisation¹³³. Covid-19 and its related socio-economic crisis is unleashing further and more rapid transformations. **The food system has great potential to create prosperity**, as it generates a large number of urban and rural jobs ranging from fishing to food services. However, there is also precarity in many food-related jobs



which limits the potential positive impact of food systems on people and specific places. Low quality jobs, particularly those characterised by low wages and temporary work, have a direct impact on the amount of money that people can afford to spend on food. In general terms, the percentage of resources spent on food by Spanish households has fallen by more than 65% since the 1960s¹³⁴. In addition, this expenditure is relatively flexible in relation to other expenses such as housing and utilities, which have risen by over 194% in the same period. For example, in 2018 the lowest-income households spent about 18% of their income on food, as compared with more than 45% on housing and utilities¹³⁵. People change the type and amount of food they eat based on their income, with a tendency to consume cheap and unhealthy calories when financial resources are scarce¹³⁶ (see section 1). However, precarity also results in 'time poverty', which affects food planning, buying and preparation. This reproductive and invisible work (care-based and unpaid) entailed in eating, particularly in a sustainable way, is often carried out by women and affects the types of work available to people in caring roles¹³⁷. Therefore, promoting a work-life balance that includes adopting sustainable food practices has social, financial and environmental benefits as well as positive outcomes for our health. It is essential that we use the agrifood chain itself to promote fair employment relations and regenerate our societies, especially after the socio-economic impact of the pandemic.

The fall in food spending and the associated race to provide the public with **apparently cheap food has many costs to our health, the environment and our economies**¹³⁸. In the agricultural sector, precarious job conditions are largely linked to the low prices paid to farmers for their products. For example, 2020 data on agricultural prices shows that the price of a conventional potato at the point of origin is $\in 0.17/kg$, as compared with the $\in 1.25/kg$ paid by consumers. This price hike of over 600% can also be seen in other products, such as onions. A number of agricultural organisations have complained that products are often sold at a loss; i.e. under their production $\cos t^{139}$. This data partly helps to understand land abandonment and the disappearance of farms¹⁴⁰. Between 1999 and 2009, 23.2 % of Spanish farms disappeared¹⁴¹ and, although the trend has been slightly less marked between 2009 and 2016, the equivalent of 17 farms a day has disappeared in the latter period¹⁴². Small farms are more likely to disappear, in spite of their contribution to food security, the maintenance of a living rural environment and the preservation of biodiversity and rural landscape, traditions and culture¹⁴³.

Many agricultural, agrifood and food services companies engage in good practices, but there are also many insecure and precarious jobs in the agrifood sector. Seasonal workers' conditions have been denounced



on many occasions, mainly in relation to wages, housing conditions and even forms of violence and abuse, particularly against women¹⁴⁴. In other parts of the food chain, such as in some food processing industries like the canning and fish processing industries, wages are very low; and the risk of accidents in abattoirs is particularly high¹⁴⁵. The food service sector has a very high rate of temporary work. According to data from the State Public Employment Service (SEPE), these jobs have a high staff turnover, with an average of 2.59 contracts per position¹⁴⁶. This sector is particularly relevant in Spain. In 2018, most new contracts were for waiting staff, which accounted for 12.37% of the country's employment contracts. Between 2011 and 2018, the number of contracts for this job rose by 117.79%, from 1.2 million to 2.7 million. The food service sector is particularly economically relevant for cities. It has been estimated that employment in the hotel and restaurant sector in Barcelona will increase by about 70% between 2013 and 2033¹³². The Covid-19 pandemic has radically affected these forecasts while highlighting the insecurity of certain working environments, some of them linked to the food system. These include, for example, the meat industry and rural workers, who are at greater risk of infection, partly due to migrant workers having no access to decent housing¹⁴⁷. In rebuilding a post-Covid-19 food economy, it is essential that we support every stage in the agrifood chain to address common challenges and improve working conditions, particularly in relation to temporary work, the gender gap or low wages, which are generating working poverty, i.e. where people are at risk of exclusion in spite of having a job¹³³.

Unfair relationships in the agrifood chain are not restricted to our local food economies, as our food travels **all over the world**. The international food trade has been greatly criticised not just for its environmental impact but also for its social and economic effects, which disproportionately affect people in situations of poverty in the Global South, particularly small farmers in rural areas¹⁴⁸. International trade rules can give rise to unfair relationships that prevent many countries from protecting their markets from other products that have benefited from advantageous tariffs or from subsidies in their countries of origin. These foods imported at artificially low prices displace local products, causing poverty among producers and even encouraging them to abandon farming, and therefore increasing these territories' reliance on food imports¹⁴⁹. In addition, a large proportion of the global food market is dominated by a small number of companies. For example, four companies control over 70% of the international cereal trade and are therefore in a position to set prices that do not take into account producers' needs¹⁵⁰. In fact, the price of some crops – such as coffee – is established on the New York stock exchange and is therefore increasingly detached to their production cost. This trading system has devastating consequences for many farmers and agricultural workers who have to deal with gruelling work, ridiculously low wages and, in many cases, no employment rights¹⁵¹.

What can we do?

Food also provides an opportunity to **promote fairer relations that generate prosperity** and help eradicate all forms of poverty. In fact, promoting justice through food requires us to address the different forms of exploitation, racism and oppression that take place throughout the food chain and, therefore, address the fundamental causes of inequality both inside and outside the food system¹⁵². Some actions in this line include:

Supporting initiatives that promote more direct relationships between the various actors in the food system. These include, for example, buying food directly from producers and short food supply chains to help them retain a more significant portion of the price paid by consumers. In addition, these more direct transactions can lead to a more equitable distribution of power when it comes to setting prices, as they remove intermediaries who might hold the key to selling or accessing certain products and are therefore able to affect prices.

• Ensuring quality employment within the food system: There are many initiatives intended to promote fairer employment relations. For example, there are campaigns promoting the establishment of living wages, which are wage rates based on what people need to live (this is usually more than the minimum wage and varies depending on the cost of living in each city). Internationally, such activities have been



carried out in countries like the United Kingdom, where there are campaigns to ensure this *living wage*, in public and private sectors and also within food and beyond. In the United States, certification systems have ben developed to ensure decent working conditions, such as <u>food justice</u> and <u>food equality</u> <u>certification</u>. These certifications can be tools for improving public procurement systems or developing more socially sustainable private initiatives¹⁵³. Along the same lines, the campaign <u>'Fruta con justicia</u> <u>social'</u> ['Fruit with Social Justice'] has been launched in Lleida with the aim, among others, to establish a certification that guarantees seasonal and migrant fruit pickers' social and employment rights. Tenders for public contracts can include criteria to reward companies with work-life balance policies and other mechanisms that improve employees' quality of life (see: <u>Contratación pública social</u>, Barcelona).

Supporting social and solidarity economy initiatives: The social and solidarity economy is based on the creation of an economic system that delivers benefits for t people, the environment and places, aiming to operate in accordance with democratic, horizontal, transparent, equitable and participatory principles. The solidarity economy is based on a new way of producing, distributing and consuming, and it works towards the construction of viable and sustainable alternatives that meets both individual and global needs¹⁵⁴. There are many initiatives that work to achieve these aims in the food system, such as cooperatives and consumer groups, circular economy initiatives relating to the production, transformation and marketing of agroecological products, as well as shops and restaurants. To see examples of these projects in Catalonia, see the 'Pam a Pam' solidarity economy map.

Buying fair trade products: Fair trade is a trade system based on dialogue, transparency and respect that aims to achieve greater equality in international trade, including social and environmental criteria in trading relationships. Fair trade aims to provide better trading conditions and guarantee producers' and disadvantaged workers' rights, particularly in the Global South¹⁵⁵. There are many fair-trade initiatives. The most widely known worldwide is the Fairtrade certification, which offers producers a minimum price covering the costs of sustainable production and includes financial support for the local farming community. This certification can be found in shops, restaurants, cafés and public places, among others. There are also other initiatives aimed at ensuring that fair trade principles are adhered to throughout the food chain rather than just at the farming stage. This group includes alternative trade organisations, such as Oxfam or Alternativa3¹⁵⁶.



7 Nurturing diversity in our fields, at our tables and in our neighbourhoods

Problem

Diversity is essential as part of a sustainable and nutrient-rich diet that promotes the resilience of agricultural ecosystems as well as local food systems. However, the loss of diversity in our food system is exposed not only in terms of what we eat but also in how we obtain our food. Over 60% of the plant-based calories we consume worldwide come from only three foods: rice, wheat and maize^{157,158}. In addition, we have very little variety in



our food. For example, there are over 7,500 varieties of apples in the world, yet 50% of the apples produced in Europe belong to only five varieties¹⁵⁹. Globally, we **have lost 75% of crop diversity in the last century**¹⁶⁰. The increasing availability of processed products also leads to a general perception of having access to greater diversity, however, under very different wrappings the components of these foodstuffs g are actually very similar: it is estimated that more than 60% of processed products contain soya and maize. This is partly due to the homogenisation of production standards (such as weight, size, appearance and composition) set by an increasingly globalised and centralised food system. This concentration and homogenisation process is also affecting our purchasing habits: in the last ten years, Spanish households have increased the volume of supermarket and discount store purchases by 23%. These channels account for over 60% of household expenditure on food to the detriment of traditional retailers such as markets and local shops, where shoppers are progressively buying less and which, according to data from 2018, account for only 17.7% of our spending⁹⁸.

The loss of diversity in the fields, at the table and in our streets contrasts with the exponential growth in cultural exchanges s: 300 different languages are spoken in Barcelona alone^{16]}. This other type of diversity provides a great wealth of knowledge and food experiences to transform urban food systems. Furthermore, it shows the importance of avoiding generalist, one-size-fits-all solutions to ensure that everyone has access to culturally appropriate foods. The plurality of cities is also spatial since there are many differences between neighbourhoods and districts within the same city. For example, the district of Ciutat Vellahas a large inflow of migrants and it is particularly impacted by the growing number of tourists in the city; Horta-Guinardó is the least densely populated area and has a high proportion of elderly people over 65 (24%); while Gràcia has a particularly low unemployment rate as well as number of green areas¹⁶². It is essential to build on this diversity to create a fairer and more sustainable city through food.



Urban and peri-urban agriculture is defined as the growing of

food and other agricultural products (such as spices, aromatic herbs, fodder, fuel crops and others), as well as the production of poultry, cattle and fishing in or around urbanised areas*. Urban and peri-urban agriculture is an integral part of cities' socio-economic and ecological systems and is a way of making sustainable food visible in the city as well as reconnecting citizens with it. This type of farming uses urban resources (land, labour and the city's organic waste) and is influenced by urban dynamics, such as policies and legislation, competing land uses, urban markets, transport and food prices that affect its how urban agriculture develops and impacts on the city. Urban and periurban agriculture can have many benefits**:



Social impacts:

- Creation of safe spaces in urban areas
- Access to land
- More close-knit communities
- Training and skill-building opportunities for different groups
- Inclusion and cooperation between different cultures and generations

Health effects

- Improved food security, particularly access to food
- Increase in fruit and vegetable consumption
- Increase in food and health knowledge
- Improved general well-being of people (mental health and physical activity)

Financial impacts

- Creation of jobs, training opportunities or development of businesses and innovation activities
- Market expansion for farmers
- Financial savings on food purchases
- Savings for the public sector (e.g. management of green areas or empty sites)
- Increase of house value

These effects depend on the type of urban and peri-urban agriculture, as it takes different forms in different cities in the world. These differences are due to:

- The actors involved (e.g. young people, children, the elderly, people with health problems)
- Location: intra-urban or peri-urban; in the ground or in pots, terraces, balconies, roofs, etc.; public or private places, etc.
- Types of product grown
- Types of activities carried out (e.g. breeding seeds, production, processing, sales, training, awareness activities, etc.)
- Intended use of the products: personal use, market, donations, etc.
- Scale of production and technology use

The promotion of urban and peri-urban agriculture has been one of the first elements of many urban food strategies and policies. In the case of Barcelona, the city has had an Urban Agriculture Strategy (UAS) since 2019. This was designed as a tool for planning the necessary actions to improve and increase the city's agricultural surface area following as well an agroecological model. The city currently has around 150 urban allotments and 355 school vegetable gardens. The allotments in Barcelona aim to maximise environmental and social services by developing growing spaces in the city to benefit people and protect biodiversity. The plan includes a ten-year vision which will result in an environmentally-friendly, healthy and resilient city whose residents are involved in the management of allotments and the promotion of agroecology and food sovereignty. There are 25 new urban allotments planned to take hold in the city in the next few years***.

*RUAF (2020). 'Urban Agriculture and city region food systems: what and why'. Available at: <u>https://ruaf.org/urban-agriculture-and-city-region-food-</u> systems/#urban-and-peri-urban-agriculture

^{** &#}x27;Urban Agriculture Impacts: Social, Health, and Economic: A Literature Review'. UC Sustainable Agriculture Research and Education Program. Agricultural Sustainability Institute at UC Davis. Available at: <u>https://assets.jhsph.edu/clf/mod_clfResource/doc/UA%20Lit%20Review-%20Golden%20Reduced%2011-15.pdf</u> *** Barcelona City Council (2019). Urban agriculture strategy in Barcelona city. Available at: <u>https://ajuntament.barcelona.cat/ecologiaurbana/es/que-hacemos-y-porque/ciudad-verde-y-biodiversidad/estrategia-agricultura-urbana</u>



Infrastructure for sustainable food

Eating entails mobilising various infrastructures which connect actors across the supply chain, such as physical (such as shops and markets), social (such as agreements between farmers and intermediaries) and digital infrastructures (from food maps to mobile applications that coordinate the demand and supply of agroecological products). These infrastructures can be public (such as Barcelona's municipal markets), private (such as shops) or community-based (such as cultural cooperatives and consumer groups). Food infrastructures are often hybrid, as in the case of wholesale markets combining public and private ownership. They can also be for individual use (our own kitchens) or collective use (community fridges). These infrastructures are sometimes stable



and formally established, such as local physical shops, while others are mobile or informal, such as weekly markets or vans selling fresh or ready-made food (such as food trucks). The urban food infrastructure is diverse and connects the city to its hinterlands but also other regions and countries.

The Covid-19 crisis shows how urban infrastructure can be reinvented to feed the city. For example, people have used their home kitchens and coordinated with their communities to feed local residents or became food couriers to look after the most vulnerable. In addition, local agroecological projects have significantly increased their activity by developing innovative distribution systems to supply the population in lockdown and at the same time, repurposing surplus food that would previously have been used for restaurants or school canteens avoiding the generation of food wast. These efforts show the importance of maintaining and developing infrastructures that guarantee sustainable food for all, promoting social and technological innovations that increase the resilience of the food system. In the last few decades food infrastructure has been progressively privatised and concentrated in large commercial groups to the detriment of more diverse and territory-based food chains, capable of redistributing value and power throughout food actors in a more equitable way*. Cities such as Barcelona have successfully kept some important and iconic infrastructures such as the municipal markets and the Barcelona wholesale market (Mercabarna) in public hands. The Barcelona network of 39 municipal markets performs many social, economic and cultural functions, with a clear impact not only on the city's foodscape but also on the metropolitan and regional food systems**. It is essential that we boost the role of these local government-run facilities to promote more equitable relationships between the various actors in the food chain that lead to the creation of public goods such as sustainable food.

*Moragues-Faus, A.; Marsden, T.; Adlerová, B.; Hausmanová, T. (2020). 'Building Diverse, Distributive, and Territorialized Agrifood Economies to Deliver Sustainability and Food Security'. *Economic Geography*, 1–25. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/00130095.2020.1749047

**Civil Society Mechanism of the Committee on World Food Security (2016). 'Connecting small-holders to farmers: An analytical guide'. Rome: CSM. Available at: http://www.csm4cfs.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/English-CONNECTING-SMALLHOLDERS-TO-MARKETS.pdf

What can we do?

Value diversity in fresh foodstuffs and quality products, as well as promote dishes, menus and diets that include different products. Facilitating the marketing and consumption of different animal breeds and varieties promotes the conservation of biodiversity and our agroecosystems' ability to adapt to change. To really value this diversity also involves acknowledging the work of farmers and seedbanks, which preserve crop diversity and make them available to society¹⁶³. Another example of valuing diversity is encouraging the consumption of different fish species in order to protect our culinary heritage and avoid overexploitation. In the port of La Barceloneta, you can find local species such as chub mackerel, Atlantic stargazer, Humboldt squid, forkbeard, white seabream, annular seabream, African armoured searobin, grey gurnard, red pandora, red bandfish and blackbelly rosefish¹⁶⁴.



Creating both individual and collective spaces to nurture food diversity and the sharing of knowledge. Such spaces can range from gatherings around community kitchens to markets or festivals. An example is the Nou Barris 'Soups of the World Festival', which celebrates diversity in the form of 100 different soup recipes cooked by neighbours and shared with all residents. Urban agriculture in the form of social, municipal and community allotments is also an example of producing sustainable food but also for creating a sense of community. Urban allotments and community gardens are often places of caring and exchanging between different cultures and generations. As mentioned above, general practitioners in some countries even prescribe community allotments as a way of improving people's physical and mental wellbeing. These places can also have positive environmental effects for example expanding and preserving on the city's biodiversity. For that purpose, it is important to foster agroecological practices in urban settings, avoiding the use of pesticides or other products that can place people and local wildlife at risk. Urban allotments therefore provide fresh and healthy food, help create greenery in disused spaces such as empty lots, and contribute to filter and clean the air, absorb carbon dioxide, create absorbent surfaces and prevent the loss of water¹⁶⁵.

Supporting diversity in shops and food initiatives: If we buy most of our food from various local businesses, a significant part of our resources will stay in our city, helping create jobs and keeping our streets rich and diverse. This form of consumption also helps reduce the use of transport and create a lively commercial fabric in our neighbourhoods. For example, 55% of the population in the Barcelona metropolitan area live within 1 km of 40 or more establishments selling fruit and vegetables¹⁶⁶. In order to promote and preserve this type of food infrastructure, it is important that we support and value shops, municipal markets and independent food service providers. Cities around the world have used different tools to achieve, such as certifications or associations. In Bristol (United Kingdom), they have gone even further and created a local currency as well as launched a campaign ('Bristol independents') to showcase the added value of local food initiatives. Another innovative example of such initiatives can be found in Toronto, where migrants and refugees have the chance to set up a food business in a food van managed by the city council as a way to start up their own business. There are also urban planning tools and incentives that help create a diverse and vibrant local trade, for example by ensuring good public transport access to traditional and farmers' markets. Other actions include,, providing advice to new businesses, promotional campaians, support based on reduced fees and rates, or adding criteria related to diversity of providers when it comes to organising public events¹⁵¹.

Fostering collaboration between organisations, producers, shops, municipal markets and small and medium-sized enterprises in order to deliver diverse solutions and at the same time scale-up responses and have capacity to address sudden changes. Creating a diverse and cooperative food fabric and infrastructure can help respond to different needs while providing larger-scale solutions. A clear example of this is the creation of food hubs which share physical and social infrastructures to make a a more efficient use of resources. An example of one such food hub is the Stop in Canada, which combines a soup kitchen with support and advice for vulnerable people, a food bank stocked with healthy food, a pregnancy support group, a training and awareness area, a food production and composting area, an oven, a sustainable food market and a community kitchen. There are also smaller initiatives, such as the creation of industrial kitchens in sea containers (which are therefore mobile). These are accessible to companies and communities to help them set up catering businesses and can also be used to support community events such as festivals or weddings. In this line, the use of public infrastructure such as school kitchens or municipal markets helps create such fabric and keep them open and accessible. Baltimore, for example, has created a virtual supermarket formed by a network of fourteen public libraries, schools and homes for the elderly where people can place online orders and ask local voluntary workers for help if necessary. Food is delivered to these facilities free of charge to ensure that older people have access to food regardless of where they live or their mobility or computer skills¹⁶⁷.



8 Creating sustainable and empowering food environments

Problem

Every day, we make over 200 decisions about food¹⁶⁸. These decisions are affected by **our food environment**; in other words, by how we interact with food from the moment we wake up until the end of our day. In the city, our food environment is therefore our home, the street where we buy bread, the market where we do our shopping at the weekend, the vending machine at work or the café where we go for a drink or a snack. Food environments are influenced by political, economic and socio-cultural factors. For example, they affect the type of food available, when and where it is available, and its price and appearance. On the other hand, this environment is not just external: it is also affected by our tastes and preferences, by our



physical access to food and convenience depending on our daily activities, as well as our ability to afford different foodstuffs¹⁶⁹. This set of factors explains why we eat the way we do and the need to change our food environments in order to make sustainable food for all a reality.

Cities have become obesogenic food environments; in other words, they promote the consumption of products that are high in fat and sugar, such as fast food and snacks¹⁷⁰. These products can be found in all kinds of shops, restaurants and cafés, vending machines and advertisements. In addition, they are very appealing products that can be consumed on the move or while doing something else, so they are particularly suited of different urban lifestyles and schedules. According to UNICEF, this type of **food environment is increasing the rate of child malnutrition in cities**¹⁷¹. Being surrounded by this kind of foodstuffs and advertising messages limits the ability of people to eat sustainably. In fact, it is important to create environments that make chosing sustainable food the easiest and most desirable option. Teaching sustainable food in the school curriculum has limited effects if the way back home is flanked by junk food and sweet shops. Therefore, we need to physically transform our cities: **Sustainable food must be visible, desirable and celebrated.**

One of the challenges of creating sustainable food environments is reclaiming the ability to **shape urban spaces to generate public goods**. This means that our neighbourhoods – with their shops, markets, parks, transport facilities, restaurants and cafés – must facilitate the access to sustainable food for all. The process of transforming the city to create sustainable food environments is riddled with challenges and difficulties, such as food gentrification dynamics. Food can be yet another aspect of the gentrification process; i.e. the creation or expansion of services and infrastructure by governments, economic interests or social groups that attract higher income groups and displace low-income residents¹⁷². These include, for example, market remodelling and elitisation¹⁷³ or the expansion of green spaces through urban agriculture initiatives that attract the middle



classes and increase house prices. Once again, these gentrification processes show the central role played by food in the shaping of cities and how it is linked to other sectors, from planning to housing.

The ubiquity of advertising for unsustainable foods also clearly shows the need to transform our food environments: **one out of every four euros of advertising is spent on food**⁷ and, in Spain, although the agrifood industry has committed to self-regulate its advertising, **77% of food advertisements are for unhealthy foods**, and 46% of these are for products – such as chocolate bars, biscuits, sweets, energy drinks and pastries – which, according to the World Health Organization, should never be advertised¹⁷⁴. Not only do the products advertised have an extremely poor nutritional content but many advertising messages reinforce gender stereotypes and beauty standards that can lead to harmful eating practices, such as anorexia⁷. Similarly, food labelling is still confusing and tends to mislead rather than inform and help consumers make their decisions⁷.

What can we do?

The transformation of food environments requires the implementation of many of the actions mentioned in the preceding sections. However, in order to achieve sustainable and empowering food environments, these principles must also transform the urban structure and our experience of the city.

In order to make sustainable urban food environments a reality, we must incorporate th principles of sustainable food in the process of designing the city. **Urban planning** is therefore an essential tool. For example, some cities have used this tool to protect and promote urban and peri-urban agriculture, limit the opening of fast-food restaurants near schools or require a health impact assessment for granting licences to shops and restaurants¹⁷⁵.

As part of the city experience, we are constantly receiving information about food. It is important to improve the quality and access to this information in order to educate the public about food and help them make decisions. A key factor to support more sustainable decision making is **food labelling**. A number of studies show that food purchases are affected by nutritional aspects although a high proportion of people do not understand the current labels (which generally just show the composition of the product)⁷. It is therefore important to **improve this information**. European labelling legislation opens the door to voluntary changes, such as the traffic light system or Nutri-score where products with high energy, sugar, salt and fat contents are given a red rating. There are also innovative initiatives beyond the food industry, such as restaurants, work canteens, shops or mobile applications that have started to provide this type of information to their customers. In New York, all food establishments must have the nutritional information of their menus accompanied by data on the recommended calorie intake for a healthy diet and provide it to customers upon request , Melbourne uses the traffic-light labelling scheme for food and drinks at public leisure centres and events, including vending machines¹⁶⁷.

Advertising also plays a key role in the provision of information on food and persuading consumers. Some actions to transform **food advertising** include, on the one hand, using opportunities to promote sustainable food in public and private places ranging from public transport, schools, and social and healthcare facilities to television channels, events, advertisements and social media. On the other hand, it is also important to limit or ban advertising that encourages people to eat unhealthy food or what is generally known as 'junk food'. For example, the Mayor of London has banned junk food advertising on the city's public transport network¹⁷⁶.

Another key area relates to marketing strategies. The **marketing** strategies used to sell food products are very diverse, ranging from advertisements to product placement, special offers, sponsorship or free samples, among others¹⁷⁷. There are also increasingly complex techniques to attract and induce certain behaviours (nudging) to promote both healthy and unhealthy eating. These practices can be used in many ways to promote sustainable diets¹⁷⁸. For example, San Francisco has banned restaurants from giving out free toys with children's menus unless they meet minimum nutritional standards¹⁶⁷.



9 Transforming the food system with everyone and for everyone

Problem

Every day, over seven billion people wake up and reproduce an unfair and unsustainable food system with their daily actions. Change is not merely possible; it is also urgent and necessary. As shown in this document, our current food system has deep historical roots and is the result of interactions between different actors and places, which means that its transformation requires multiple individual efforts but, more importantly, collective action capable of having a positive impact on people, places and the planet. In the last few decades, **decisions on the food system have become individualised and concentrated mainly on the market**. In other words, our opinion on food has been relegated to the shopping basket¹⁷⁹. For



example, residents have a very limited ability to decide whether they want another fast-food restaurant next to the local school. However, there is growing evidence of the negative effects of unsustainable and unhealthy food on our lives and public finance. There is therefore a pressing need to democratise the development of sustainable food systems, bring food into the middle of the political debate and increase people's food sovereignty. **Citizen involvement** is particularly relevant due to the economic importance of the food sector which generates vested interests and increases the ability of powerful actors to influence decision-making spaces¹⁸⁰. In relation to this, studies have shown how conflicts of interest have hindered the implementation of public policies and recommendations to support more sustainable food systems⁸².

Decision-making processes have also been significantly transformed. The more traditional exclusively government-run models for policy and decision-making have gradually evolved, and new **forms of governance** have emerged in which the public sector works together with civil society and the private sector in the development of plans, policies and concrete actions. Involving different actors and sectors of the food system provides distinct knowledge and capabilities to collectively identify challenges and possible solutions for specific contexts while building legitimacy and support for such interventions. However, these participatory spaces and processes rarely tackle the unequal power relations between the parties involved¹⁸¹ and often suffer from a lack of diversity and representation of groups at the margins of the food system. Furthermore, in many instances these participatory processes fail develop effective mechanisms to be accountable to the rest of society¹⁸². These elements are key to ensuring that these more collaborative forms of governance help democratise the food system and generate equity.



What can we do?

Education is key to transform the food system. It is important to include the principles sustainable food in the education and skill development programmes available in different sectors of the agrifood chain in order to obtain specialist knowledge in a given profession (e.g. training in agroecology), as well as to include them in a cross-cutting manner in different educational settings. For example in schools teaching nutrition and cooking skills, courses on reducing food waste in civic centres or campaigns on sustainable food for children through school visits to the Barcelona wholesale market (Mercabarna) or municipal markets. Examples of these cross-cutting actions include Barcelona City Council's *Escoles + Sostenibles* [+ Sustainable Schools] project, which consists of a micro-network of schools working on the subject of food waste, and the 2019 Summer School of the Barcelona wholesale market (Mercabarna) which also focused on this issue.

Non-formal and informal education settings also provide opportunities for sharing information about the food system and developing critical analytical skills to understand the links between food and the health of people, the planet and specific places. Examples in this line include specific campaigns on the effects of sugary drinks or different types of livestock farming which expand our knowledge on the interconnected nature of the food system¹⁸³. We all interact with the food system in different ways, and we can actively help educate people to make sustainable food a reality. There are many resources on these topics that provide the general public with regularly updated information and increase their food literacy¹⁸⁴.

In the process of transforming our cities to make sustainable food systems possible, it is crucial that we involve people as social and political actors rather than as mere consumers. This type of involvement can be encouraged in many ways. A good starting point is to carry out community food assessments to ¹⁸⁵ needs, identify the neighbourhood's strengths and weaknesses and co-construct more sustainable food spaces. These community-based approaches encourage the creation of synergies between local residents and the development of collective local initiatives for the neighbourhood, and contribute to food gentrification processes.¹⁸⁶ The development of more formal, and the creation of open and flexible spaces for wide participation and reflection. Other governance mechanisms include the establishment of specific roles, such as Baltimore's residents' food equity advisors, where members of the public advise the local government on food matters. These innovations on food governance must be designed to be inclusive and empowering and must result in actions that promote equity. Incorporating this sensitivity also entails logistical aspects, such as times and places for participation. There is a growing number of initiatives med at implementing the 'Nothing about us without us is for us' principle that successfully change the perception of the food system, for example by explaining what it feels like to suffer from food poverty at first hand as a teenager and what valid solutions there are.¹⁸⁷ It is essential to include different voices because, as we have shown throughout this document, we are all connected through the food system and are therefore vulnerable in different ways, either because of its direct effect on our health, the effect of healthcare spending on public finances or its global environmental impact. Furthermore, involving people in the development of policies and actions provides evidence and knowledge that technical personnel do not have, gives rise to ideas for the development of effective solutions in real-life contexts and promotes empowering community-led processes with a political impact. The distribution of power and decision-making under which the food system currently operates is causing poverty, environmental degradation and disease.¹⁸⁸ Changing the way it is managed by increasing people's ability to make decisions about their own food is a key step towards a fairer and more sustainable future.



Notes

- 1 Afshin, A.; Sur, P. J.; Fay, K. A.; Cornaby, L.; Ferrara, G.; Salama, J. S.... and Afarideh, M. (2019). 'Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017'. The Lancet, 393(10184): 1958-1972.
- 2 FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO. 2019. 'The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2019. Safeguarding against economic slowdowns and downturns'. Rome, FAO. Available at: <u>http://www.fao.org/3/ca5162en.pdf</u>
- 3 Development Initiatives, 2018. '2018 Global Nutrition Report: Shining a light to spur action on nutrition'. Bristol, United Kingdom: Development Initiatives. Available at: <u>https://globalnutritionreport.org/reports/global-nutrition-report-2018/</u>
- 4 Bartoll, X.; Pérez, K.; Pasarín M.; Rodríguez-Sanz, M; Borrell, C. (2018). Results of the 2016/17 Barcelona Health Survey. Barcelona: Barcelona Public Health Agency. Available at: <u>https://www.aspb.cat/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ASPB_Enquesta-Salut-Barcelona-2016.pdf</u>
- 5 Hernáez, Á.; Zomeňo, M. D.; Dégano, I. R.; Pérez-Fernández, S.; Goday, A.; Vila, J.; Civeira, F; Moure, R; Marrugat, J. Rev. ES Cardiol (English version). 23 November 2018. PII: S1885-5857(18)30440-7. DOI: 10.1016/j.rec.2018.10.010. 'Excess Weight in Spain: Current Situation, Projections for 2030, and Estimated Direct Extra Cost for the Spanish Health System'. Available at: https://www.imim.cat/noticies/view.php?ID=798
- 6 Hernáez, Á.; Zomeňo, M. D.; Dégano, I. R.; Pérez-Fernández, S.; Goday, A.; Vila, J.; Civeira, F; Moure, R; Marrugat, J. Rev. ES Cardiol (English version). 23 November 2018. PII: S1885-5857(18)30440-7. DOI: 10.1016/j.rec.2018.10.010. 'Excess Weight in Spain: Current Situation, Projections for 2030, and Estimated Direct Extra Cost for the Spanish Health System'. Available at: https://www.imim.cat/noticies/view.php?ID=798
- 7 VSF Justicia Alimentaria Global (2016). 'Viaje al centro de la alimentación que nos enferma'. 'Dame Veneno' report. Available at: <u>https://justiciaalimentaria.org/sites/default/files/campaign/informe_dameveneno.pdf</u>
- 8 2019 AMB Food System Observatory indicators. Available at: https://docs.amb.cat/alfresco/api/-default-/public/alfresco/versions/1/ nodes/36732556-c129-45cc-84dd-dea32d7ff6d4/content/Observatori%20Sistema%20Alimentari%20Metropolita%20V.final.pdf?attachment=false&mimeType=application/pdf&sizeInBytes=3355008
- 9 Catalonia Strategic Food Plan 2021-2026 (2020). 'Estat de l'art de l'alimentació a Catalunya: Diagnosi tècnica. Eix de Sostenibilitat Econòmica'. Available at: http://agricultura.gencat.cat/web/.content/04-alimentacio/consell-catala-alimentacio/enllacos-documents/fitxers-binaris/PEAC_Diagnosi-tecnica-Sostenibilitat-Economica_Abril-2020.pdf. According to data contained in this report, 98.2% of companies in the Catalan agrifood industry have under 200 employees.
- 10 Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (2018). Contribución del sistema agroalimentario a la economía española. Actualización de datos de 2016. Available at: <u>https://www.mapa.gob.es/es/ministerio/servicios/analisis-y-prospectiva/vabdelsae2016_tcm30-482367.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- 11 IDESCAT 2017. Structural Business Statistics in the Service Sector. Food and drink services. Available at: <u>https://www.idescat.cat/eas/?t-c=1&se=503&lang=en</u>
- 12 The food and personal services industries and salespersons and the agriculture, livestock, fish farming and fishing sectors have the lowest wages in the whole of Spain. See: Generalitat de Catalunya (2019). Pla Estratègic de l'Alimentació a Catalunya 2021-2026. 'Estat de l'art de l'alimentació a Catalunya: Diagnosi tècnica. Eix de Formació i Treball'. Available at: http://agricultura.gencat.cat/web/. content/04-alimentacio/consell-catala-alimentacio/enllacos-documents/fitxers-binaris/PEAC_Diagnosi-tecnica-Formacio-i-Treba-ll_Abril-2020.pdf
- 13 Statement by the UN Special Rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights, Philip Alston, on the final remarks of his official visit to Spain from 27 January to 7 February 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsI-D=25524&LangID=S</u>
- 14 Food Chain Workers Alliance and Solidarity Research Cooperative (2016). 'No Piece of the Pie: U.S. Food Workers in 2016'. Los Angeles, CA: Food Chain Workers Alliance. Available at: <u>http://foodchainworkers.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/05/FCWA_NoPieceOfThePie_P.pdf</u>
- 15 ILO (2012). 'Decent Work for Food Security: An ILO sectoral programme'. Report of the International Labour Organization. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_dialogue/---sector/documents/publication/wcms_161946.pdf
- 16 IPCC (2019). 'Special Report on Climate Change and Land'. Available at: <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/chapter/summary-for-policy-makers/</u>
- 17 FAO (2013). 'Water and food: the post 2015 water thematic consultation water resources management stream framing paper'
- 18 Parris, K. (2011). 'Impact of agriculture on water pollution in OECD countries: Recent trends and future prospects'. International Journal of Water Resources Development 27, 33–52. DOI: 10.1080/07900627.2010.531898
- 19 Scherr, S. J. and McNeely, J. A. (2012). 'Farming with nature: the science and practice of ecoagriculture'. Island Press, Washington, DC
- 20 IPBES (2019). 'Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services'. E. S. Brondizio, J. Settele, S. Díaz and H. T. Ngo (editors). IPBES Secretariat. Bonn, Germany.
- 21 Fischer, J.; Lindenmayer, D. B.; Manning, A. D. (2006). 'Biodiversity, ecosystem function, and resilience: ten guiding principles for commodity production landscapes'. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 4(2), 80-86, and <u>http://www.fao.org/3/ca5008en/ca5008en.pdf</u>
- 22 FAO (1999). 'Background paper 1: Agricultural Biodiversity. Multifunctional Character of Agriculture and Land Conference'. Available at: http://www.fao.org/mfcal/pdf/bp_1_agb.pdf in Zimmerer, K. S.; de Haan, S.; Jones, A. D.; Creed-Kanashiro, H.; Tello, M.; Carrasco, M.... and Olivencia, Y. J. (2019). 'The biodiversity of food and agriculture (Agrobiodiversity) in the Anthropocene: Research advances and conceptual framework'. Anthropocene, 25(100192), 1-16.



- 23 Organisations such as the FAO acknowledge the role of agroecology in the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals (see http://www.fao.org/publications/card/en/c/1902IEN/), and the European strategy 'From Farm to Fork' aims for 25% of Europe's farming land to be certified organic by 2030 due to its environmental benefits (see http://www.fao.org/publications/card/en/c/1902IEN/), and the European strategy 'From Farm to Fork' aims for 25% of Europe's farming land to be certified organic by 2030 due to its environmental benefits (see https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/safety/docs/f2f_action-plan_2020_strategy-info_en.pdf).
- 24 See FAO (2011). 'Global food losses and food waste Extent, causes and prevention'. Rome (also available at http://www.fao.org/do-crep/014/mb060e/mb060e02.pdf) and FAO (2013). 'Food wastage footprint. Impacts on natural resources'. Rome. Available at: http://www.fao.org/do-crep/014/mb060e02.pdf) and FAO (2013). 'Food wastage footprint. Impacts on natural resources'. Rome. Available at: http://www.fao.org/3/i3347e.pdf. New indices for updating this data and monitoring progress towards the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals are being developed; see http://www.fao.org/food-loss-and-food-waste/en/
- 25 Rohr, J. R.; Barrett, C.B.; Civitello, D. J. et al. (2019). 'Emerging human infectious diseases and the links to global food production'. Nat Sustain 2, 445–456. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0293-3

Jones, B. A.; Grace, D.; Kock, R.; Alonso, S.; Rushton, J.; Said, M. Y.... and Pfeiffer, D. U. (2013). 'Zoonosis emergence linked to agricultural intensification and environmental change'. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(21), 8399-840

FAO (2018). 'World Livestock: Transforming the livestock sector through the Sustainable Development Goals'. Rome. 222 pp. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

- 26 International Energy Agency (2016). 'Energy Technology Perspectives 2016: Towards sustainable urban energy systems'. Paris (also available at https://webstore.iea.org/download/summary/292?fileName=English-ETP-2016-ES.pdf)
- 27 UN DESA/Population Division (2018). 'World Urbanization Prospect: the 2018 revision' (also available at https://population.un.org/wup/Publications/Files/WUP2018-KeyFacts.pdf).
- 28 FAO (2017). 'The State of Food and Agriculture. Leveraging Food Systems for Inclusive Rural Transformation'. Rome (also available at http://www.fao.org/3/a-i7658e.pdf)
- 29 For information on the Milan Pact, click on this link: <u>http://www.milanurbanfoodpolicypact.org/</u>
- 30 For the text of the declaration, see: https://www.c40.org/press_releases/good-food-cities
- 31 Cities play an active role in the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals and have a specific goal (11): the creation of sustainable cities and communities. For further information, see: <u>https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/cities/</u>
- 32 This is an original definition of sustainable food based on definitions of sustainable food systems, sustainable diets, sustainable food and good food. The main references include: FAO (2013). The State of Food and Agriculture 2013. Food Systems for Better Nutrition'. Rome

FAO and WHO (2019). 'Sustainable healthy diets – Guiding principles'. Rome. Available at: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/</u> item/9789241516648

Sustain (2013). 'The Sustain Guide to Good Food. What you can do – and ask others to do – to help make our food and farming system fit for the future'. Available at: https://www.sustainweb.org/secure/Sustain_Guide_To_Good_Food.pdf

Bristol Food Policy Council (2013). 'A plan for Good Food'. Available at: <u>https://bristolfoodpolicycouncil.org/wp-content/up-loads/2013/03/Bristol-Good-Food-Plan_lowres.pdf</u>

- 33 These actions have been chosen ad hoc and are partly inspired on the following documents:
 - FAO and WHO (2019). 'Sustainable healthy diets Guiding principles'. Rome

Sustain (2013). 'The Sustain Guide to Good Food. What you can do – and ask others to do – to help make our food and farming system fit for the future'. Available at: <u>https://www.sustainweb.org/secure/Sustain_Guide_To_Good_Food.pdf</u>

- 34 In this regard, this guide was created with the aim of providing a common framework and useful actions to make sustainable food a reality in cities, particularly in the context of Barcelona. As the issues and examples are common to many cities around the world, this guide can be useful in many different places, but it is biased towards the challenges and solutions that are more prevalent in cities of the Global North.
- 35 According to La Via Campesina, food sovereignty is 'peoples' right to affordable, nutritious and culturally appropriate food produced in a sustainable and environmentally friendly way, and their right to decide on their own food and agricultural system'.
- 36 The text is structured in accordance with a problem-solution logic. There are many initiatives within the food system working to achieve sustainable food. These are listed generically in the section on solutions, where we have also provided some examples of good practices. Unfortunately, there was not enough room to include a wide range of good practices in progress in different places.
- 37 Definition of the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the right to food: http://www.srfood.org/es/derecho-a-la-alimentacion
- 38 Bartoll, X.; Pérez, K.; Pasarín M.; Rodríguez-Sanz, M; Borrell, C. (2018). Results of the 2016/17 Barcelona Health Survey. Barcelona: Barcelona Public Health Agency. Available at:
- 39 Garcia, X.; Domene, E.; García, M. (2018). 'Entorns alimentaris locals: Com s'alimenta l'àrea metropolitana de Barcelona? El cas de la ciutat de Barcelona'. Barcelona Metropolitan Area. IERMB. Available at: <u>https://iermb.uab.cat/estudi/entorns-alimentaris-locals-com-salimenta-larea-metropolitana-de-barcelona/</u>
- 40 Drewnowski, Adam and Stephen E. Specter (2004). 'Poverty and obesity: the role of energy density and energy costs'. The American journal of clinical nutrition 79.1: 6-16.
- 41 Medina, A. and Schiaffino, A. (2019). 'Enquesta de salut de Catalunya. L'estat de salut, els comportaments relacionats amb la salut i l'ús de serveis sanitaris a Catalunya. Resum executiu dels principals resultats de l'ESCA del 2018'. Available at: <u>https://salutweb.gencat.</u> cat/web/.content/_departament/estadistiques-sanitaries/enquestes/Enquesta-de-salut-de-Catalunya/Resultats-de-lenquesta-de-salut-de-Catalunya/documents/2018-resultats/resum-executiu-esca-2018.pdf
- 42 Loopstra (2020). 'Vulnerability to food insecurity since the COVID-19 lockdown'. Kings College and Food Foundation. London, United Kingdom. Available at: https://foodfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Report_COVID19FoodInsecurity-final.pdf



- 43 Food bank press release 07/05/2020. Available at: https://www.bancdelsaliments.org/es/noticias/la-demanda-de-alimentos-aumenta-un-30-y-las-consultas-sobre-ayuda-alimentaria-se-multiplican-por-cuatro-desde-el-inicio-del-estado-de-alarma/_noticia:101/
- 44 Loopstra, R. and Tarasuk, V. (2015). 'Food Bank Usage Is a Poor Indicator of Food Insecurity: Insights from Canada'. Social Policy and Society, 14(3), 443-455. DOI: 10.1017/S1474746415000184
- 45 See Network for the right to adequate food in Barcelona: http://www.bcn.cat/barcelonainclusiva/es/xarxa15.html
- 46 See Food Power (2020) 'Community Food Retail'. Available at: https://www.sustainweb.org/foodpower/action/alternative_retail/
- 47 For examples of public procurement in Europe, see: FOODLINKS (2013). 'Revaluing Public Sector Food Procurement in Europe: An action plan for sustainability'. Available at: http://www.foodlinkscommunity.net/fileadmin/documents_organicresearch/foodlinks/publica-tions/Foodlinks_report_low.pdf
- 48 For more information on the development of strategies to reduce food poverty and involve experts based on their experience, visit the Food Power project, which contains resources and case studies: <u>https://www.sustainweb.org/foodpower/action/experts_by_experi-ence/</u>
- 49 There are various definitions of 'industrial or intensive agriculture and livestock production'. In this document, we have used the adjective 'industrial' and the definition given by the IPES-Food (2016:1) panel of experts. Industrial agriculture refers to 'the input-intensive crop monocultures and industrial-scale feedlots that now dominate farming landscapes. The uniformity at the heart of these systems and their reliance on chemical fertilisers, pesticides and preventive use of antibiotics lead systematically to negative outcomes and vulnerabilities'. IPES-Food (2016). 'From Uniformity to Diversity: A Paradigm Shift from Industrial Agriculture to Diversified Agroecological Systems'. Available at: http://www.ipes-food.org/_img/upload/files/UniformityToDiversity_FULL.pdf
- 50 IPES-Food (2016). 'From Uniformity to Diversity: A Paradigm Shift from Industrial Agriculture to Diversified Agroecological Systems'. Available at: http://www.ipes-food.org/_img/upload/files/UniformityToDiversity_FULL.pdf
- 51 Raigón, M. D. (2018). 'Alimentos y salud'. In: Molero Cortés, J.; López García, D; Arroyo, L. (ed.). 'Salud y derecho a la alimentación. Bienestar, equidad y sostenibilidad a través de políticas alimentarias locales'. Valladolid, Spain: Entretantos Foundation and Ciudades por la Agroecología network [Cities for Agroecology]. pp. 23-27
- 52 Olea, N.; Molina, M. J.; García-Martin, M.; Olea-Serrano, M. F. (1996). 'Modern agricultural practices: The human price'. In: Endocrine disruption and Reproductive effects in Wildlife and Humans. Soto, A. M.; Sonnenschein, C.; Colborn, T. Ed. Comments in Toxicology, 455-474. See the informational book: Olea, N (2019). 'Libérate de tóxicos'. RBA. Barcelona
- 53 'Farm to Fork' 2020 European Strategy. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/safety/docs/f2f_action-plan_2020_</u> strategy_info_en.pdf.
- 54 Hertz-Picciotto, I.; Sass, J. B.; Engel, S.; Bennett, D. H.; Bradman, A.; Eskenazi, B.... and Whyatt, R. (2018). 'Organophosphate exposures during pregnancy and child neurodevelopment: recommendations for essential policy reforms'. *PLoS medicine*, *15*(10)
 Hernández, K.; Romano, D.; Pérez, F.; García, K. (2019). 'Autorizaciones excepcionales de pesticidas prohibidos. El uso rutinario de las autorizaciones excepcionales de pesticidas prohibidos amenaza la salud y el medio ambiente'. Ecologistas en acción
- 55 Steel, C. (2008). 'Hungry city: how food shapes our lives'. London: Chatto & Windus.
- 56 Heras López, M. (2010). 'Quan I'om demana peres: L'insostenible consum energètic del sistema alimentari'. 9 ESFeres Estudis. Associació Catalana d'Enginyeria Sense Fronteres [Catalan Engineers without Borders Association]. Available at: <u>https://esf-cat.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/ESFeres9-Quan-lom-demana-peres.pdf</u>
- 57 There is a debate as to whether the consumption of local products is always better in terms of greenhouse gas emissions, since emissions associated with the transport of food products account for a low percentage that varies according to the type of product, the means of transport used and the distance travelled. The majority of these emissions per product – around 86% – depends on the production system used. For example, some life cycle analyses have shown that, for a British consumer, eating New Zealand lamb has a smaller carbon footprint than eating local lamb, because its production model is less intensive. It is therefore important to look at aspects of local consumption together with other environmental, social and economic impacts while encouraging purchases and the transition of local systems to agroecological production methods. See references:

Poore, J.; Nemecek, T. (2018). 'Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers and consumers'. Science, 360 (6392), 987-992. Available at: https://science.sciencemag.org/content/360/6392/987

DEFRA (2006). 'Comparative Life Cycle Assessment of Food Commodities Procured for UK Consumption through a Diversity of Supply Chains'. Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs. United Kingdom: London. Available at: <u>http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx-</u>?Module=More&Location=None&ProjectID=15001

- 58 IPES-Food (2017). 'Too big to feed: Exploring the impacts of mega-mergers, consolidation and concentration of power in the agrifood sector'. Available at: www.ipes-food.org
- 59 The impact of the global food trade has a number of different economic, social and political facets. For example, the most marketed foods worldwide are those with the largest ecological footprint from their point of production to their point of consumption. An example of this is palm oil. The global market alsofavours the concentration of power and facilitates the financialisation of food. For example, during the food crisis of 2007-2008, grain prices were used to speculate and make profits on financial markets. For a full analysis, see Clapp, J. (2017). 'The trade-ification of the food sustainability agenda'. *The Journal of Peasant Studies*, 44(2), 335-353.
- 60 FAO. (2018). 'El estado mundial de la pesca y la acuicultura 2018. Cumplir los objetivos de desarrollo sostenible'. Rome. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO. Available at: <u>http://www.fao.org/3/i9540es/i9540es.pdf</u>
- 61 WWF 2015. 'Living Blue Planet Report Species, habitats and human well-being'. Available at: https://c402277.sslcfl.rackcdn.com/publications/817/files/original/Living_Blue_Planet_Report_2015_Final_LR.pdf?1442242821
- 62 For a calendar of seasonal products, click here: https://docs.google.com/document/d/116fpqda82RsINkytYz8p5d1YZ-m_BFHD/edit#



- 63 There is extensive academic literature on the impact of local food, including the ability to reconnect consumer groups with producer groups, distribute benefits in a fairer way and support local economies. However, there are also studies showing the importance of understanding the context of each local food system rather than simply assuming that local products are always socially, economically or environmentally better. In some communities, local food consists of intensive sugar or soy plantations where seasonal workers work under very precarious conditions and the production techniques used degrade the soil and pollute the water. In addition, even if the product has been produced locally, it is marketed through global distributors and intermediaries, such as supermarkets. It is important to acknowledge this complexity in local-vs-global debates. For more information on this debate and for a recent analysis of the impacts of different food chains, see the European project: http://glamur.eu/.
- 64 Consumer Focus (2007). 'Season's Promise: An enjoyable way to tackle climate change'. Available at: <u>https://www.sustainweb.org/</u> publications/seasons_promise/
- 65 Inventari de productes de la terra. Generalitat de Catalunya. Available at: <u>http://agricultura.gencat.cat/ca/ambits/alimentacio/</u> segells-qualitat-diferenciada/inventari-productes-terra/
- 66 Contreras, J.; Cáceres, J.; Espeitx, E. (2003). Book Inventari Productes de la Terra. Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Action. Available at: http://agricultura.gencat.cat/ca/detalls/Publicacio/A10_2003_Productes_terra
- 67 Saunders, C. and Barber, A. (2008). 'Carbon footprints, life cycle analysis, food miles: global trade trends and market issues'. *Political Science*, 60(1), 73-88.
- 68 Moragues-Faus, A. (2020). 'Distributive food systems to build just and liveable futures'. Agriculture and Human Values. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-020-10087-9
- 69 Organic farming practices are regulated by the European Union. For more information on this legislation and permitted practices, see: https://www.mapa.gob.es/en/alimentacion/temas/produccion-ecologica/default_antigua.aspx
- 70 Crowder, D. W. and Reganold, J. P. (2015). 'Financial competitiveness of organic agriculture on a global scale'. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(24), 7611-7616
- 71 http://www.ccpae.org/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=36&lang=es#.XnNOlahKhGM
- 72 For more information, see: FAO (2019). 'The 10 Elements of Agroecology: Guiding the Transition to Sustainable Food and Agricultural Systems'. Available at: http://www.fao.org/agroecology/knowledge/10-elements/en/
- 73 Torremocha, E. (2012). 'Sistemas participativos de garantía: una herramienta clave para la soberanía alimentaria'. Mundubat and Soberanía Alimentaria, Biodiversidad y Cultura magazine. Available at: <u>http://www.redcimas.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/</u> sistemas_participativos_degarantia.pdf
- 74 See the campaign relating to the labelling of sea products: https://www.diba.cat/documents/167269/233623112/etiquetatge_peix_2019_web.pdf/84ef8d19-72ec-45f8-aae9-a42710390c1a and the relevant provisions of Regulation (EU) No. 1379/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2013 on the common organisation of the markets in the fishery and aquaculture sectors.
- 75 The organisation Sustain has produced a guide containing recommendations and the impacts of the different types of fishing. This is available at: https://www.sustainweb.org/sustainablefishcity/whats_the_problem/
- 76 For further information, go to: http://www.turismepesquerenbarcelona.com/projecte-sostenible/
- 77 Data calculated by VSF Global Food Justice based on data from the Government of Catalonia's Department of Health. See document: VSF Justicia Alimentaria Global (2016). 'Viaje al centro de la alimentación que nos enferma'. 'Dame Veneno' report. Available at: <u>https://justiciaalimentaria.org/sites/default/files/campaign/informe_dameveneno.pdf</u>
- 78 The EAT-Lancet Commission brought together 37 leading scientists in various disciplines, including human health, agriculture, political science and environmental sustainability, from 16 countries to develop global scientific goals for healthy diets and sustainable food production. This is the first attempt at establishing a set of universal scientific goals for the food system applicable to all people across the globe. The result is the planetary health diet proposal. See:

Willett, W.; Rockström, J.; Loken, B.; Springmann, M.; Lang, T.; Vermeulen, S.; Garnett, T.; Tilman, D.; DeClerck, F.; Wood, A.; Jonell, M. (2019). 'Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT–Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems'. *The Lancet*, 393(10170), pp. 447-492.

- 79 GLOPAN (2016). 'Foresight report on Food Systems and Diets: Facing the Challenges of the 21st Century'.
- 80 The following information has been taken from the FAO report: Monteiro, C. A.; Cannon, G.; Lawrence, M.; Costa Louzada, M. L.; Pereira Machado, P. (2019). 'Ultra-processed foods, diet quality, and health using the NOVA classification system'. Rome, FAO. Available at: http://www.fao.org/3/ca5644en/ca5644en.pdf
- 81 Poti, J. M.; Braga, B.; Qin, B. (2017). 'Ultra-processed Food Intake and Obesity: What Really Matters for Health-Processing or Nutrient Content?' Current obesity reports, 6(4), 420–431. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-017-0285-4</u>
- 82 Swinburn, B. A.; Kraak, V. I.; Allender, S.; Atkins, V. J.; Baker, P. I.; Bogard, J. R... and Ezzati, M. (2019). 'The global syndemic of obesity, undernutrition, and climate change: the Lancet Commission report'. The Lancet, 393(10173), 791-846. Available at: <u>https://www.thelancet.com/</u> journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(18)32822-8/fulltext#back-bib107
- 83 Fiolet, Thibault; Srour, Bernard; Sellem, Laury; Kesse-Guyot, Emmanuelle; Allès, Benjamin; Méjean; Caroline et al. (2018). 'Consumption of ultra-processed foods and cancer risk: results from NutriNet-Santé prospective cohort'. BMJ 360: k322. Available at: <u>https://www.bmj. com/content/360/bmj.k322</u>
- 84 Blanco-Rojo, R.; Sandoval-Insausti, H.; López-García, E.; Graciani, A.; Ordovás, J. M.; Banegas, J. R.; Rodríguez-Artalejo, F.; Guallar-Castillón, P. (November 2019). 'Consumption of ultra-processed foods and mortality: a national prospective cohort in Spain'. In Mayo Clinic Proceedings (vol. 94, no. 11, pp. 2178-2188). Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0025619619304185</u>



- 85 Ministry of Health, Consumer Affairs and Social Welfare (2017). Spanish National Health Survey. Available at: <u>https://www.mscbs.gob.es/</u> estadEstudios/estadisticas/encuestaNacional/encuestaNac2017/ENSE17_pres_web.pdf
- 86 Hadjikakou, M. (2017). 'Trimming the excess: environmental impacts of discretionary food consumption in Australia'. *Ecological Economics*, 131, pp. 119–128. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0921800916303615
- 87 OCU (2018). 'Informe RASFF: alertas registradas en alimentos'. Available at: https://www.ocu.org/alimentacion/seguridad-alimentaria/noticias/informe-rasff-alertas-alimentos-2017
- 88 The cost of a planetary health diet has been recently calculated. The results of this study show that 25% of the world's population, particularly in low-income countries, cannot afford this diet. In high-income countries, on the other hand, its cost is equivalent to 6.1% of the average per-capita income. See: Hirvonen, K.; Bai, Y.; Headey, D.; Masters, W. A. (2020). 'Affordability of the EAT-Lancet reference diet: a global analysis'. *The Lancet Global Health*, 8(1), e59-e66.
- 89 These actions have been taken following the recommendations of the World Health Organization (FAO and WHO [2019]) 'Sustainable healthy diets Guiding principles'. Rome. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241516648), the British campaign 'Peas Please' and the documents 'Foodservice and Restaurant Toolkit', available at: https://foodfoundation.org.uk/food-service-com-pendium/
- 90 Urban agriculture has positive effects on health, society and the economy. For a compilation of these impacts, see: Golden, S. (2013). 'Urban Agriculture Impacts: Social, Health, and Economic: A Literature Review'. UC Sustainable Agriculture Research and Education Program. Agricultural Sustainability Institute at UC Davis. Available at: https://assets.jhsph.edu/clf/mod_clfResource/doc/UA%20Lit%20 Review-%20Golden%20Reduced%2011-15.pdf
- 91 Sustain (2010). 'Buy Well Retail Project'. Sustain, London. Available at: https://www.sustainweb.org/publications/buywell_retail_project_final_report/?section

'Peas Please' campaign: https://foodfoundation.org.uk/retailer-toolkit/

- 92 Grynbaum (2014). 'New York's Ban on Big Sodas Is Rejected by Final Court'. New York Times. Available at: <u>https://www.nytimes.</u> com/2014/06/27/nyregion/city-loses-final-appeal-on-limiting-sales-of-large-sodas.html
- 93 Topping (2015). 'Brighton launches voluntary 'sugar tax' in effort to tackle obesity'. *The Guardian*. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian</u>. <u>com/uk-news/2015/oct/05/brighton-launches-voluntary-sugar-tax-in-effort-to-tackle-obesity</u>
- 94 NHS (2020). 'Social prescribing'. National Health Service. England, United Kingdom. Available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/social-prescribing/

Alderwick, H. A.; Gottlieb, L. M.; Fichtenberg, C. M.; Adler, N. E. (2018). 'Social prescribing in the US and England: emerging interventions to address patients' social needs'. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 54(5), 715-718. Available at: <u>https://www.ajpmonline.org/</u> article/S0749-3797(18)30071-0/abstract

- 95 See: Ministry of Consumer Affairs (2020). Food Security. Available at: <u>http://www.aecosan.msssi.gob.es/AECOSAN/web/subhomes/se-guridad_alimentaria/aecosan_seguridad_alimentaria.htm</u>.
- 96 F. Galli; G. Brunori (ed.) (2013). 'Short Food Supply Chains as drivers of sustainable development.

Evidence Document'. Document developed within the framework of the project FP7 FOODLINKS (GA no. 265287). Laboratorio di studi rurali Sismondi, ISBN 978-88-90896-01-9. See also:

Aznar, G (2017). 'La venta directa de productos agroalimentarios en España y Francia: estudio jurídico comparativo de la legislación que regula en Francia y España, en concreto en la comunidad autónoma de Aragón, la venta directa de productos agroalimentarios desde el productor al consumidor'. Available at: <u>http://www.hp-hp.eu/_archivos/ficheros/entregables_224.pdf</u>;

García, F. and Reina-Usuga, L. (2019). 'Análisis de las barreras legislativas y normativas para las pequeñas producciones artesanales en Andalucía'. Justica Alimentaria VSF and Queserías de campo y artesanas. Available at: <u>https://justiciaalimentaria.org/sites/default/</u> files/docs/investigacion_barreras_legislativas_final.pdf

- 97 Justicia Alimentaria (2019) 'Carne de Cañón. Por qué comemos tanta carne y cómo nos enferma'. Available at: <u>https://justiciaalimen-</u> taria.org/sites/default/files/campaign/Informe_Carne_de_Canon.pdf
- 98 Ariza, C.; Serral, G.; Ramos, P.; Artazcoz, L. (2019). 'Impacto de los hábitos alimentarios en la salud de los infantes y adolescentes de Barcelona'. Barcelona Public Health Agency. Barcelona. Available at: <u>https://www.aspb.cat/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/ASPB_habits-ali-</u> mentaris-infants-adolescents-barcelona.pdf
- 99 Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (2019). 'Informe del consumo alimentario en España 2018'. Madrid. Available at: <u>https://www.mapa.gob.es/es/alimentacion/temas/consumo-y-comercializacion-y-distribucion-alimentaria/20190807_informedecon-sumo2018pdf_tcm30-512256.pdf</u>
- 100 'What does a healthy portion look like?'. World Cancer Research Fund: www.wcrfuk.org/PDFs/HealthyPortionPad.pdf 24. The WCRF report (2007) defines processed meat as meat preserved by smoking, curing or salting, or addition of chemical preservatives, including that contained in processed food.
- 101 Gerber, P. J.; Steinfeld, H.; Henderson, B.; Mottet, A.; Opio, C.; Dijkman, J.; Falcucci, A.; Tempio, G. (2013). 'Tackling climate change through livestock – A global assessment of emissions and mitigation opportunities'. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome. Available at: <u>http://www.fao.org/news/story/en/item/197623/icode/</u>
- 102 The data is taken from the FAO's 2006 report. 'Livestock's long shadow: Environmental issues and options, 2006'. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome. Available at: ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/010/A0701E/A0701E00.pdf It is worth noting that the calculation of greenhouse gas emissions from livestock farming is based on a life cycle analysis and that the transport data relates only to direct emissions. See: https://news.trust.org/item/20180918083629-d2wf0



- 103 Sustain (2013). 'The Sustain Guide to Good Food. What you can do and ask others to do to help make our food and farming system fit for the future'. Available at: <u>https://www.sustainweb.org/secure/Sustain_Guide_To_Good_Food.pdf</u> Garnett, T.; Godde, C.; Muller, A.; Röös, E.; Smith, P.; de Boer, I... and van Zanten, H. (2017). 'Grazed and confused'. *Food Climate Research Network*, 708. Available at: <u>https://www.fcrn.org.uk/sites/default/files/project-files/fcrn_gnc_report.pdf</u>
- Herrera, Pedro M. (ed.) (2020). 'Ganadería y cambio climático: un acercamiento en profundidad'.
 Fundación Entretantos and Plataforma por la Ganadería Extensiva y el Pastoralismo. P. 5. Available at: http://www.ganaderiaextensiva. org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/CuadernoEntretantos6_GanaderiayCC.pdf
- 105 For the water footprint of different foods, see: <u>https://waterfootprint.org/en/water-footprint/product-water-footprint/water-footprint-crop-and-animal-products/</u>
- 106 Rojas-Downing, M. M.; Nejadhashemi, A. P.; Harrigan, T.; Woznicki, S. A. (2017). 'Climate change and livestock: Impacts, adaptation, and mitigation'. *Climate Risk Management*, 16, 145–163
- 107 Bruinsma, J. (ed.). (2003). 'World agriculture: towards 2015/2030. An FAO perspective'. Earthscan. According to recent studies, 54% of changes to meat consumption are due to population growth, and the rest to a rise in per-capita consumption. The latter is particularly affected by changes in preferences and increases in income. See: Whitnall, Tim and Pitts, Nathan (2019). 'Global trends in meat consumption'. Agricultural Commodities, vol. 9, no. 1, March 2019: 96–99. Available at: <u>https://search.informit.com.au/documentSummary;dn=309517990386547;res=IELBUS</u>
- 108 For information, see: https://animalequality.org/campaigns/
- 109 Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (2019). 'Informe trimestral indicadores del sector avicultura de puesta'. Subdirección General de Productos Ganaderos, Dirección General de Producciones y Mercados Agrarios. Available at: <u>https://www.mapa.gob.es/es/ganade-ria/temas/produccion-y-mercados-ganaderos/dashboardhuevosabril_tcm30-445045.pdf</u>
- 110 Mahtani (2019). 'El 82% de las gallinas ponedoras está aún enjaulada'. El País. Available at: https://elpais.com/sociedad/2019/10/11/actualidad/1570792892_217139.html
- 111 Willett, W.; Rockström, J.; Loken, B.; Springmann, M.; Lang, T.; Vermeulen, S.; Garnett, T.; Tilman, D.; DeClerck, F.; Wood, A.; Jonell, M. (2019). 'Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT-Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems'. *The Lancet*, 393(10170), pp. 447-492.
- 112 Davey, G. K.; Spencer, E. A.; Appleby, P. N.; Allen, N. E.; Knox, K. H.; Key, T. J. (2003). 'EPIC-Oxford: lifestyle characteristics and nutrient intakes in a cohort of 33 883 meat-eaters and 31 546 non meat-eaters in the UK'. *Public Health Nutrition*, 6(3), 259-268.
- 113 Crowe, F. L., Appleby; P. N.; Travis, R. C.; Key, T. J. (2013). 'Risk of hospitalization or death from ischemic heart disease among British vegetarians and nonvegetarians: results from the EPIC-Oxford cohort study'. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 97(3), 597-603.
- 114 Key, T. J.; Appleby, P. N.; Spencer, E. A.; Travis, R. C.; Allen, N. E.; Thorogood, M.; Mann, J. I. (2009). 'Cancer incidence in British vegetarians'. British Journal of Cancer, 101(1), 192–197.
- 115 Herrera, Pedro M. (ed.) (2020). 'Ganadería y cambio climático: un acercamiento en profundidad'. Fundación Entretantos and Plataforma por la Ganadería Extensiva y el Pastoralismo. <u>http://www.ganaderiaextensiva.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/CuadernoEntretantos6_GanaderiayCC.pdf</u> (p. 5)
- 116 Rojas-Downing, M. M.; Nejadhashemi, A. P.; Harrigan, T.; Woznicki, S. A. (2017). 'Climate change and livestock: Impacts, adaptation, and mitigation'. *Climate Risk Management*, 16, 145-163
- 117 See, for example: https://www.lacarnedepasto.com/
- 118 See, for example: http://www.ganaderiaextensiva.org/la-ganaderia-extensiva/
- 119 See the European animal welfare legislation: http://www.bienestaranimal.eu/baeu.html
- 120 There is a distinction in technical jargon between 'food losses' a decrease in food quantity or quality as a result of decisions and actions at the production, harvest and processing stages-, and 'food waste' which refers to a decrease in quantity or quality of food as a result of actions and decisions by retailers, food service providers and consumers (see FAO [2020]. 'Food loss and food waste', available at: http://www.fao.org/food-loss-and-food-waste/). To make it easier to read, the said manual talks about 'food waste' as encompassing both concepts.
- 121 According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), global food waste and loss (over the entire food chain) between 2010 and 2016 accounted for 8%-10% of total emissions and cost around USD 1 trillion per year. See: IPCC (2019). 'Special Report on Climate Change and Land' (SRCCL). Chapter 5: 'Food Security'. Available at: <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2019/08/2f.-Chapter-5_FINAL.pdf</u>
- 122 United Nations Environment Programme (2009). 'The Environmental Food Crisis The Environment's Role in Averting Future Food Crises'. A UNEP Rapid Response Assessment, ed. C. Nellemann *et al.*, February 2009, p. 19
- 123 Stenmarck, Åsa; Carl Jensen; Tom Quested; Graham Moates (2016). 'Estimates of European Food Waste Levels'. Comisión Europea (FP7). Coordination and Support Action (CSA). Available at: <u>https://www.eu-fusions.org/phocadownload/Publications/Estimates%20of%20</u> <u>European%20food%20waste%20levels.pdf</u>
- 124 Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (2019). 'Desperdicio de alimentos de los hogares en España'. Available at: <u>https://www.menosdesperdicio.es/sites/default/files/documentos/relacionados/presentacion_desperdicios_ano_2018.pdf</u>



- 125 There are various sources of data on waste management in Spain. The source of this information is Greenpeace (https://es.greenpeace.org/es/trabajamos-en/consumismo/plasticos/datos-sobre-la-produccion-de-plasticos/). However, the private company Ecoembes, which manages the selective collection of household packaging, has different figures from the ones provided by Greenpeace (about 70% of plastic is recycled; see https://www.ecoembes.com/es/ciudadanos/envases-y-proceso-reciclaje/datos-de-reciclaje-en-espana). Part of the controversy is due to the fact that the amount of packaging collected for recycling is not the same as the amount actually recycled in the end, as a significant amount of material is discarded due to failure to meet a certain quality level. According to estimates by the Spanish Ministry of Ecological Transition (MTE), 47.94% of all recovered plastic packaging was recycled in 2017; see https://www.miteco.gob.es/es/calidad-y-evaluacion-ambiental/publicaciones/2019tabladatosenvasesyresiduosdeenvases2017_tcm30-498744.pdf. We therefore state the figure at about 50%. Further information: https://naukas.com/2019/09/08/reciclaje-de-plasticos-en-espana-ecoembes-vs-greenpeace/
- 126 Greenpeace (2019). 'Tirando el futuro: Las empresas ofrecen falsas soluciones a la contaminación por plásticos'. Available at: <u>https://es.greenpeace.org/es/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/10/Tirando-el-Futuro.pdf</u>
- 127 There is an increasing amount of scientific evidence on the impact of microplastics on health. Preliminary research points to inflammatory responses, a chemical transfer of contaminants or disruptions to the gut microbiome. See Wright SL, Kelly FJ. (2017). 'Plastic and human health: a micro issue?' *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 51(12): 6634-47

In addition, according to some studies, drinking bottled water increases exposure to endocrine disruptors: Real, M.; Molina-Molina, J. M.; Jiménez-Díaz, I.; Arrebola, J. P.; Sáenz, J. M.; Fernández, M. F.; Olea, N. (2015). 'Screening of hormone-like activities in bottled waters available in Southern Spain using receptor-specific bioassays'. *Environment international*, 74, 125-135.

For more information, see:

Kieran D. Cox; Garth A. Covernton; Hailey L. Davies; John F. Dower; Francis Juanes; Sarah E. Dudas (2019). 'Human Consumption of Microplastics'. Environmental Science & Technology, 2-19. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.9b01517;

Smith, M.; Love, D. C.; Rochman, C. M.; Neff, R. A. (2018). 'Microplastics in Seafood and the Implications for Human Health'. *Curr Environ Health Rep*, 5(3):375–386. DOI: 10.1007/s40572-018-0206-z.

- 128 This data was obtained using the lowest price of bottled water (€0.14/litre) according to online supermarket data and the average price of domestic water in Catalonia (€2.402/m³) obtained from the Catalan Water Agency's report. 'El precio del agua en Cataluña 2018'. Available at: http://aca.gencat.cat/web/.content/10_ACA/J_Publicacions/05-estudis-preus-i-tarifes/11_Observatori_ preus_2018_ES.pdf
- 129 Moragues-Faus, Ana (2017). 'Emancipatory or Neoliberal Food Politics? Exploring the 'Politics of Collectivity' of Buying Groups in the Search for Egalitarian Food Democracies'. *Antipode*, 49: 455–476. DOI: 10.1111/anti.12274.
- 130 There are many guides to the avoidance of food waste, such as the Barcelona Metropolitan Area's 'Guía para evitar el despilfarro alimentario' ['Guide to the avoidance of food waste'] available at <u>http://www.amb.cat/web/ecologia/residus/prevencio/reduccio/malbaratament-alimentari</u>, or specific guides for the restaurant and catering industry, such as the Alicia Foundation's guide: <u>http://www. alicia.cat/uploads/document/Malbaratament%20alimentari_Aprofitem%20el%20menjar%20LOW.pdf</u>
- 131 There is currently some disagreement as to whether reducing food packaging results in greater food waste. The impact of packaging must be comprehensively analysed which include consideration of both strategies to reduce the impact of food packaging and minimise food waste. For more information, see: Schweitzer, J. P.; Gionfra, S.; Pantzar, M.; Mottershead, D.; Watkins, E.; Petsinaris, F.; ten Brink, P.; Ptak, E.; Lacey, C.; Janssens, C. (2018). 'Unwrapped: How throwaway plastic is failing to solve Europe's food waste problem (and what we need to do instead)'. Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP), Brussels. A study by Zero Waste Europe and Friends of the Earth Europe for the Rethink Plastic Alliance. Available at: http://www.foeeurope.org/sites/default/files/materials_and_waste/2018/unwrapped_-throwaway_plastic_failing_to_solve_europes_food_waste_problem.pdf
- 132 Olea, N (2019). 'Libérate de tóxicos'. RBA. Barcelona
- 133 Barcelona Activa (2018). 'Libro blanco del futuro del/de los trabajo/s'. Available at: https://www.barcelonactiva.cat/barcelonactiva/images/cat/Llibre-Blanc-CAT-Web_tcm101-49510.pdf
- 134 Martín Cerdeño, V. (2016). 'Cincuenta años de alimentación en España'. MERCASA. Available at: <u>http://mercasa50aniversario.es/50/</u> wp-content/uploads/2016/04/50_annos_de_alimentacion_en_espanna.pdf
- 135 According to the Spanish National Institute of Statistics (INE), in 2018 the lowest-income Spanish households (those with an income of under €500 per month) spent around 18% of their income on food, as compared with over 45% on housing and utilities. In contrast, the percentage for wealthiest households was only 10.4%. For more, see: National Institute of Statistics (INE). (2018). 'Encuesta de presupuestos familiares'. Available at: https://www.ine.es/dyngs/INEbase/es/operacion.htm?c=Estadistica_C&cid=1254736176806&menu=ultiDatos&idp=1254735976608
- 136 Díaz, C.; García, I.; Otero, S. (2018). 'Discursos sobre la escasez: estrategias de gestión de privación alimentaria en tiempos de crisis'. Empiria. Revista de Metodología de Ciencias Sociales. No. 40, May-August 2018, pp. 85-105. Retrieved from: <u>https://dialnet.unirioja.es/</u><u>descarga/articulo/6411282.pdf</u>
- 137 For more information on the overlap between sustainable food, care-giving and feminism, see: Xarxa de Consum Solidari and Marcha Mundial de las Mujeres (2013). 'Tejiendo alianzas para una vida sostenible. Consumo crítico, feminismo y soberanía alimentaria'. Barcelona, September 2013
- 138 Patel, R. and Moore, J. W. (2017). 'A history of the world in seven cheap things: A guide to capitalism, nature, and the future of the planet'. University of California Press.
- 139 MAPA (2020). 'Observatorio de la Cadena Alimentaria'. Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. Available at: <u>https://www.mapa.gob.es/es/alimentacion/servicios/observatorio-de-precios-de-los-alimentos/default2.aspx</u>. See also the analysis by Sánchez (2020). 'Cuatro gráficos que explican la crisis del campo'. Available at: <u>https://www.eldiario.es/economia/graficos-explican-crisis-cam-po_0_995650693.html</u>;



- 140 The disappearance of farms does not mean that the surface area devoted to agriculture will decrease. Instead, one farm may become part of another and will therefore continue to be used. In fact, the utilised agricultural area between 1999 and 2009 fell by 9.2 %. For more detailed information on the de-agrarisation of the countryside, see: Camarero, L. (2017). 'Trabajadores del campo y familias de la tierra. Instantáneas de la desagrarización'. *Ager*: Revista de estudios sobre despoblación y desarrollo rural, (23), 163-195.
- 141 INE (2011). 'Censo Agrario 2009'. Available at: <u>https://www.ine.es/dyngs/INEbase/es/operacion.htm?c=Estadisti-</u> ca_C&cid=1254736176851&menu=ultiDatos&idp=1254735727106
- 142 INE (2017). 'Encuesta sobre la estructura de las explotaciones agrícolas 2016'. Available at: https://www.ine.es/dyngs/INEbase/es/operacion.htm?c=Estadistica_C&cid=1254736176854&menu=ultiDatos&idp=1254735727106
- 143 For the results of the European SALSA project, see: Small Farms, Small Food Businesses and Sustainable Food Security. Available at: http://www.fao.org/family-farming/detail/en/c/1269997/
- 144 Statement by the UN Special Rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights, Philip Alston, on the conclusion of his official visit to Spain from 27 January to 7 February 2020. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?News-lD=25524&LanglD=S
- 145 For more examples and testimonies of working conditions, see: Soberanía Alimentaria, Biodiversidad y Cultura (2017). 'Condiciones laborales en la agricultura y alimentación', no. 30. Available at: <u>https://issuu.com/gustavoduch/docs/sabc_n30_issuu</u>
- 146 SEPE (2019). 'Informe del Mercado de Trabajo Estatal. Datos 2018'. Employment Observatory. State Public Employment Service (SEPE). Available at: <u>http://www.observatoriodelaconstruccion.com/uploads/media/LksJO0OHa7.pdf</u>
- 147 These conditions have been recently reported in the press, collecting examples from various countries, such as the United States, Germany and Spain. For more information, see: https://www.eldiario.es/economia/coronavirus-miserias-industria-carnica-alemana_0_1027497581.html; https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/may/15/us-coronavirus-meat-packing-plants-food; https:// www.publico.es/sociedad/desescalada-entornos-laborales-precarios-principal-foco-rebrotes.html
- 148 Trade plays a key role for small-scale producers and for feeding the world's population. The way food production and consumption is currently structured means that ensuring access to sufficient quality food for everyone requires this international dimension. However, we must move towards fairer relations with positive economic, environmental and social impacts. See: Burnett, K. and Murphy, S. (2014). 'What place for international trade in food sovereignty?'. The Journal of Peasant Studies, 41(6), 1065–1084.
- 149 For more information, see the reports on trade of the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the right to food, Olivier De Schutter: <u>http://www.srfood.org/en/trade-sp-1847639719</u>
- 150 Clapp, J. (2017). 'The trade-ification of the food sustainability agenda'. The Journal of Peasant Studies, 44(2), 335-353.
- 151 Sustain (2013). 'The Sustain Guide to Good Food. What you can do and ask others to do to help make our food and farming system fit for the future'. Available at: <u>https://www.sustainweb.org/secure/Sustain_Guide_To_Good_Food.pdf</u>
- 152 Alkon, A. H. and Agyeman, J. (2011). 'Cultivating Food Justice: Race, Class, and Sustainability'. Cambridge, MA, MIT Press
- 153 See, for example, the system in the Good Food Purchasing Program: <u>http://foodchainworkers.org/programs/policy/good-food-purchasing-policy/</u>
- 154 See: Xarxa d'Economia Solidària (XES), available at https://xes.cat/es/
- 155 Definition of the World Fair Trade Organization (WFTO), adopted by the Spanish platform Coordinadora Estatal de Comercio Justo: http://comerciojusto.org/que-es-el-comercio-justo-2/
- 156 For more information on fair trade certifications, go to: https://wfto.com/
- 157 See the data at: FAO (1999). 'Women: users, preservers and managers of agrobiodiversity'. Rome. Available at: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download;jsessionid=2BB791DFD15ED4EF10EAE1AC83D930E3?doi=10.1.1395.2601&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u>. See also the role of local producers and women in the conservation of agrobiodiversity (FAO [2004]. 'Building on Gender, Agrobiodiversity and Local Knowledge'. Rome), as well as projects for the improvement of people's nutrition through diverse local food production: <u>https://www.bioversityinternational.org/research-portfolio/diet-diversity/improving-nutrition-with-diverse-local-foods/</u>
- 158 According to the EAT-Lancet commission's estimates (see section 3), the planetary health diet recommends s that only 32.44% of calories consumed come from whole grains. See: <u>https://eatforum.org/content/uploads/2019/01/EAT-Lancet_Commission_Summary_Re-</u> <u>port.pdf</u>
- 159 See EUROSTAT data (2020). DG Agri. Dashboard: Apples. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/food-farming-fisheries/</u> farming/documents/apple-dashboard_en.pdf
- 160 FAO (1999). 'Background paper 1: Agricultural Biodiversity. Multifunctional Character of Agriculture and Land Conference'. Available at: <u>http://www.fao.org/mfcal/pdf/bp_1_agb.pdf</u> in Zimmerer, K. S.; de Haan, S.; Jones, A. D.; Creed-Kanashiro, H.; Tello, M.; Carrasco, M... and Olivencia, Y. J. (2019). 'The biodiversity of food and agriculture (Agrobiodiversity) in the Anthropocene: Research advances and conceptual framework'. Anthropocene, 25(100192), 1-16.
- 161 Linguapax (2019). 'Diversitat lingüística i cultural: un patrimoni comú de valor inestimable'. Available at: <u>http://www.linguapax.org/</u> wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Informe-2019.pdf
- 162 CESB (2016). 'Informe. Característiques dels barris de Barcelona'. Available at: http://www.bcn.cat/cesb/pdf/informes/i2016/Informe_ Barris.pdf
- 163 There is currently a crucial debate for the future of the food system on the importance of seeds and access to them, including their intellectual property aspects. For more detailed information on this debate, see:

Tansey, G. (2011). 'Whose power to control? Some reflections on seed systems and food security in a changing world'. *IDS Bulletin*, 42(4), 111-120.

Fernández, J. M. E. and Gutiérrez, J. G. (2012). 'Estado de los recursos fitogenéticos desde la perspectiva de las redes de semillas'. Agroecología, 7(2), 47-63.



164 See https://graffitireceptes.aixeta.cat/ca

- 165 Garden Organic (2011). 'Benefits of Gardening'. Available at: http://www.gardenorganic.org.uk/about_us/projects.php
- 166 Garcia, X.; Domene, E.; García, M. (2018). 'Entorns alimentaris locals: Com s'alimenta l'àrea metropolitana de Barcelona? El cas de la ciutat de Barcelona'. Barcelona Metropolitan Area. IERMB. Available at: <u>https://iermb.uab.cat/estudi/entorns-alimentaris-locals-com-salimenta-larea-metropolitana-de-barcelona/</u>
- 167 Halliday, J.; Platenkamp, L.; Nicolarea, Y. (2019). 'A menu of actions to shape urban food environments for improved nutrition'. GAIN, MUFPP and RUAF. Available at: <u>https://www.gainhealth.org/sites/default/files/publications/documents/gain-mufpp-ruaf-a-menu-of-actions-to-shape-urban-food-environments-for-improved-nutrition-2019.pdf</u>
- 168 Wansink, B. and Sobal, J. (2007). 'Mindless eating: The 200 daily food decisions we overlook'. Environment and Behavior, 39(1), 106-123. Available at: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0013916506295573
- 169 See this article to understand the origin and evolution of the concept of food environment: Turner, Christopher, et al. (2018). 'Concepts and critical perspectives for food environment research: A global framework with implications for action in low- and middle-income countries'. Global Food Security, 18: 93-101
- 170 Obesogenic environments are also related to people's opportunities to exercise, which is low in many cities. See: EAT UNICEF (2019). 'Urban Food Environments Brief'. Available at: <u>https://eatforum.org/content/uploads/2019/11/EAT-UNICEF-Urban-Food-Environments-Brief.pdf</u>
- 171 UNICEF (2019). 'The State of the World's Children 2019. Children, Food and Nutrition: Growing well in a changing world'. UNICEF, New York
- 172 K. A. Gould and T. L. Lewis (2016). 'Green Gentrification: Urban Sustainability and the Struggle for Environmental Justice'. Routledge, New York
- 173 González, S. (2018). 'La 'gourmetización' de las ciudades y los mercados de abasto. Reflexiones críticas sobre el origen del proceso, su evolución e impactos sociales'. In: 'Gentrificación, privilegios e injusticia alimentaria', 13-25. Available at: <u>https://www.fuhem.es/media/ cdv/file/biblioteca/Boletin_ECOS/43/Dossier-Gentrificacion-privilegios-e-injusticia-alimentaria.pdf</u>
- 174 Study by the Spanish Organisation of Consumers and Users (OCU) and Escuela Nacional de Salud del Instituto de Salud Carlos III [Carlos III Health Institute National School of Health]. Available at: <u>https://www.ocu.org/alimentacion/comer-bien/noticias/publicidad-in-</u> <u>fantil-de-alimentos</u>. See also the World Health Organization's report on this matter, available at: <u>http://www.euro.who.int/__data/</u> <u>assets/pdf_file/0003/384015/food-marketing-kids-eng.pdf</u>
- 175 Cavill, N. and Rutter, H. (2013). 'Healthy people, healthy places briefing Obesity and the environment: regulating the growth of fast food outlets'. Public Health England. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach-</u> ment_data/file/296248/Obesity_and_environment_March2014.pdf
- 176 See 'The London Food Strategy', available at: https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/business-and-economy/food/london-food-strategy-0
- 177 For definitions and characterisation of types of marketing and advertising according to the European Commission, see: <u>https://ec.euro-pa.eu/jrc/en/health-knowledge-gateway/promotion-prevention/other-policies/marketing</u>
- 178 Hansen, P. G.; Skov, L. R.; Skov, K. L. (2016). 'Making healthy choices easier: regulation versus nudging'. Annual Review of Public Health, 37, 237-251. Available at: https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/full/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032315-021537#_i6
- 179 Under this process of 'voting with your fork' or trying to equate people's needs and preferences with their current shopping decisions, people on low incomes are unable to express their actual preferences. This approaches is a very poor approximation to to understanding people's real needs and preferences regarding the food system.
- 180 The AGRIFOOD ATLAS (2017). 'Facts and figures about the corporations that control what we eat'. Available at: <u>https://cn.boell.org/sites/</u> default/files/agrifoodatlas2017_facts-and-figures-about-the-corporations-that-control-what-we-eat.pdf
- 181 These imbalances mean that, even if several actors are invited to take part, they do not all have the same power to influence the agenda and outcomes of these processes. See, for example: McKeon, N. (2017). 'Are Equity and Sustainability a Likely Outcome When Foxes and Chickens Share the Same Coop? Critiquing the Concept of Multistakeholder Governance of Food Security'. *Globalizations*, 14:3, 379-398. DOI: 10.1080/14747731.2017.1286168
- 182 Moragues@ Faus, A. (2020). 'Towards a critical governance framework: Unveiling the political and justice dimensions of urban food partnerships'. The Geographical Journal, 186(1), 73-86.
- 183 See the examples compiled by the Ciudades por la Agroecología network [Cities for Agroecology]: <u>https://www.ciudadesagroecologicas.eu/educar-para-una-alimentacion-sostenible-es-posible/</u>
- 184 See, for example, the magazineSoberanía Alimentaria, Biodiversidad y Culturas or the magazine Opcions.
- 185 Knowles, K.; Pitt, H.; Moragues-Faus, A. (2018) 'Food Power Evaluation. Review of Monitoring, Measuring and Evaluating Tools'. Cardiff University. Available at: https://www.sustainweb.org/resources/files/reports/FoodPower_Review_of_Monitoring_Measuring_Evaluating.pdf
- 186 N. Cohen (2018). 'Feeding or Starving Gentrification: The Role of Food Policy'. CUNY Urban Food Policy Institute, 27 March 2018. Available at: https://www.cunyurbanfoodpolicy.org/news/2018/3/27/feeding-or-starving-gentrification-the-role-of-food-policy______
- 187 For the benefits of involving people with personal experience in the development of food policies, see: Centre for Food Policy. 'How can evidence of lived experience make food policy more effective and equitable in addressing major food system challenges?'. City Food Symposium 2018 Report. London: Centre for Food Policy, 2018. Available at: https://www.city.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/440985/2018-City-Food-Sym-Report-FINAL251018.pdf
- 188 Moragues-Faus, Ana; Roberta Sonnino; Terry Marsden (2017). 'Exploring European food system vulnerabilities: Towards integrated food security governance'. Environmental Science and Policy, 75: 184-215. DOI: 10.1016/j.envsci.2017.05.015.